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ORAL HISTORY 
 

 
Oral History is the spoken word in print.  

Oral histories are personal memories shared from the perspective of the narrator. 

By means of recorded interviews oral history documents collect spoken memories and 

personal commentaries of historical significance. These interviews are transcribed 

verbatim and minimally edited for accessibility. Greatest appreciation is gained when 

one can read an oral history aloud.  

 Oral histories do not follow the standard language usage of the written word. 

Transcribed interviews are not edited to meet traditional writing standards; they are 

edited only for clarity and understanding. The hope of oral history is to capture the 

flavor of the narrator’s speech and convey the narrator’s feelings through the tenor and 

tempo of speech patterns.  

An oral history is more than a family tree with names of ancestors and their birth 

and death dates. Oral history is recorded personal memory, and that is its value. What it 

offers complements other forms of historical text, and does not always require historical 

collaboration. Oral history recognizes that memories often become polished as they sift 

through time, taking on new meanings and potentially reshaping the events they relate.  

 Memories shared in an oral histories create a picture of the narrator’s life – the 

culture, food, eccentricities, opinions, thoughts, idiosyncrasies, joys, sorrows, passions - 

the rich substance that gives color and texture to this individual life.                      

              Kate Cavett  

Oral Historian 

HAND in HAND Productions 

Saint Paul, Minnesota 

651-227-5987 

www.oralhistorian.org 
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Carolen Fay Bailey was appointed policewoman  

for the Saint Paul Bureau of Police July 17, 1961. 

She resigned December 3, 1963 

and returned to the department September 16, 1964. 

Promoted to: 

Sergeant— December 25, 1971 

Lieutenant— May 25, 1985 

Retired: 

January 31, 1991 

 

Minnesota Association Women Officer of the Year—1980 

Minnesota Assistant Commissioner of Public Safety 1992-1997 

 

 

KC: Kate Cavett 

CB: Carolen Bailey 

 

May 10, 2007 interview 

 

KC: Carolen, introduce yourself to me, please. 

CB: I’m Carolen Bailey, I was born Carolen Fay Gesin in Osceola, Iowa on 

September 30, 1936.  Not long after that, my father became general 

manager of the International Harvester Company for the South American 

Region, so we moved to Brazil, which is where I stayed until we came to 

Minnesota..  I went to Johnson High School here [in St. Paul], and I also 

went to the University of Minnesota .  I met my husband Roger while in 

high school, and we were married while we were still in college.  

KC: What was your degree in college? 

CB: A B.A. in social work and psychology.   

KC: You went through college in a very short period of time. 
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CB: Yes.  I was dating my husband in high school, and we had planned to get 

married, so I doubled up on credits.  My first year was my 

freshman/sophomore year and I generally took twenty-nine credits a 

quarter.  In those days they allowed quality credits, so that if you had a 

five credit A, you got one quality credit, up to a maximum of thirty 

quality credits, which I got, so that I eliminated two quarters just from 

quality credits.  I finished, basically, in two years, the four year degree. 

KC: What were those first jobs that you did? 

CB: After I graduated? 

KC: Yes. 

CB: Because I worked at the University of Minnesota in their steno pool while 

I was going to school and then after I graduated, I worked briefly in the 

personnel office at the First Trust Company of Saint Paul.  Then I took a 

test for the Ramsey County Welfare Department, it’s the Department of 

Human Services, now. I was hired very quickly.  I went to the top of the 

list, so I was a case worker in child protection for four years.  Then I got 

pregnant so I quit.  I was home for a year after our middle son was born, 

and then seemed to get a little restless and everything.  And I thought, you 

know the police department positions would probably offer me an opportunity at 

varied hours so that I could be home sometimes during the day with our children.  

So, I called, and it just so happened that they were giving the first test in 

years for police women, which  was the title of the job  then.  And it 

required that you had experience in social work.  Even though it was 

entry level for police women, it was actually the detective level of men.  So 

I had to take a test.  There were twenty-five women that took this test, and 
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two of us passed, but the other woman didn’t pass the final test.  By the 

time you finished all these physical and mental exams, and everything 

else under the sun, you thought, it’s not worth it.  And just about that time 

when I thought this isn’t worth all this, then they hired me, and I was the 

only one hired [at that time]. 

KC: Now you have two children at this point? 

CB: When I came on the Police Department, which was in July of 1961, I had 

one son, Jeffry, who was born in ’57, while I was still in college.  He was 

due on my graduation day and our first anniversary, and he came a 

month early.  I have photographs posing in my graduation robe, holding 

the baby.  

 

 I had him before I was working at the Ramsey County Welfare , 

Department. I’ll never forget the director of the personnel, who later 

became the director of the agency, said to me, “You know, we’re not 

accustomed to mothers working here.  We don’t really have very many 

women with children working here.”  In other words, he was quite biased 

that I was working and had a child.  So, it was when I was pregnant with 

our second son, who was born in 1961, that I had quit the Welfare 

Department.   

 

I started the Police Department with two children and then after two 

years, I had our third son.  In those days, they didn’t have any birth 

control pills.  When I got pregnant with our third son, the chief said, Chief 
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Lester McAuliffe1 said that he would give me maternity leave if they had 

it, but he checked and found out they didn’t have maternity leave for 

police officers.  So, he told me, and he was very true to his word, that if I 

quit, he would rehire me anytime within the next year, at my current 

salary.  And he did. 

KC: Did you have to quit early in the pregnancy or did they let you work later 

into the pregnancy? 

CB: I was fortunate, because I didn’t show my pregnancy.  I only wore 

maternity clothes for one month.  And all three of our sons were born one 

month early, so, in other words, I really didn’t show until I was seven 

months pregnant and I worked right up until I started to wear the 

maternity clothes, with our youngest one.  There was no problem, I was 

working Juvenile Division and it didn’t seem to be any issue at that time.  

I think there would have been a huge issue, as there was later, for uniform 

women. 

KC:: Now, when you came on in 1961, were you required to wear any type of a 

police uniform? 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
1 Lester E. McAuliffe was appointed patrolman March 24, 1936; promoted to sergeant December 

16, 1947; detective March 16, 1948; detective lieutenant December 1, 1949; assistant chief 

November 15, 1955; and chief May 23, 1961; and retired March 31, 1970. 

 

 

Original ID card--1961 
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CB: No.  I was hired as a police woman and that was basically detective level 

salary.  You did not go through the academy.  Ironically, I did a lot of 

training in the academy, but never went there for training.  I had many 

opportunities to go to excellent training seminars.  In fact, I had a greater 

advantage, especially for the International Association of Women Police. 

Their annual conferences were for one week periods, in various parts of 

the United States, and they were all on varied subjects.  So when it turned 

out that I was reassigned or promoted, I had a huge advantage, because I 

had already had a lot of training in the subject.  A good example is when I 

became commander of the vice squad.  Normally, most officers would not 

have had a lot of training in that area, but I’d already had a lot of varied 

training in those areas.  And when I went into patrol for the first time, I 

had a lot of experience and training from the IAWP training conferences. 

KC: What training did you get?  You’re hired as a police woman, you’re 

assigned to juvenile, but was there any training whatsoever that you got?  

CB: Captain John Roberts2 was in charge of the juvenile division when I went 

in there, and I think he and the other two policewomen that were there, 

kind of showed me the forms and the processes and so forth.  Basically, 

that was about it.  I think the reason they wanted the women with 

experience in social work is because a lot of the social work, intake 

particularly, was similar to what we handled in juvenile division.  It was 

very easy for me to move into the juvenile division. 

                                                
2 John H. Roberts was appointed patrolman April 1, 1937; promoted to detective February 18, 

1949; detective lieutenant December 1, 1949; rank changed to Captain December 1, 1965; and 

retired May 30, 1973. 
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KC: Can you talk about the other policewomen?  Now, there were three in the 

department? 

CB: Counting me. There were women before them, though, but they were 

primarily jailers.  There was Micki Flores3 and Dorothy Freichel4.  Micki 

was already thinking about retiring when I came on the job.  Dorothy was 

married to a deputy chief, Robert Freichel.  So, when I began my efforts 

for police women to take promotional exams, neither one of them were 

interested, because Micki planned to retire and Dorothy didn’t want to 

rock the boat with her husband in the deputy chief position.  But I wanted 

to, because I wanted it to include all women, because I’d been offered an 

opportunity to be promoted without an exam, just for me.  I said, no, I 

want the opportunity for all the  

women to take the test and I want to  

take it fairly and so forth. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
3 Graciela “Micki” Flores was appointed policewoman July 13, 1953; promoted to sergeant 

December 25, 1971; retired July 30, 1976.  
4 Dorothymae Freischel was appointed October 1, 1954; promoted to sergeant December 25, 1971; 

and retired October 19, 1979. 

Micki Flores and Carolen Bailey 

1963 
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KC: About what year was that? 

CB: Appointed sergeant, December 1971. I’d worked on the department for 

ten years before I was given an opportunity to take a test. 

KC: And you took a one year off maternity hiatus? 

CB: Yes. 

KC: So in ’71, you actually took the test? 

CB: And was promoted. 

KC: Did the other women take the test, too? 

CB: Yes.  Yes, they took it.  Micki always insisted she didn’t pass it, but they 

passed her and we all became sergeants.  And that opened the 

opportunity then for all women to take the tests. 

KC: You’re on in 1961, you’re in juvenile, what were the types of things that 

they assigned you to do? 

CB: Juvenile division was primarily dealing with violations, missing persons 

as well, involving children under 18 years of age.  I only worked in 

juvenile division for two years, before I quit to have a baby.  But, basically, 

they would be bringing in juveniles that committed offenses and we’d 

make dispositions on what to do with them, whether it was to file in 

juvenile court or to refer them to a social service agency, or to their 

parents.  This was easy, because when I worked in child protection, 

basically, you were making a lot of dispositions just like that.  The 

advantage was in police work versus social work is that in police work 

you’re dealing with people in crisis, and I firmly believe that you can get 

much more accomplished in motivating people and making change when 
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there’s a crisis.  We, of course, had a lot more authority, so, I found it 

much more satisfying to get results at the Police Department. 

KC: How was the work that you were assigned different than the work that 

the male officers were assigned? 

CB: Actually, there really wasn’t any.  If 

they were working juvenile division, it 

was the same thing.  The difference 

was that the men handled the male 

juveniles and we handled the female 

juveniles, so, basically, we were all 

doing the same thing. 

KC: You would go out on the streets and 

do investigations and look for kids? 

CB: Correct.  Whenever it was really quiet 

in Juvenile Division, that’s what I 

did.  I’d head up to the bus depot 

to look for runaways.  Especially when I was first starting, they also called 

on me to do a lot of undercover assignments, because I wasn’t known in 

the community and I was still fairly young.  I enjoyed the multiple 

opportunities to do other things. 

KC: Can you talk about some of those undercover assignments? 

CB:  In the early years, when I was in Juvenile Division, most of it was 

involving illegal after hours clubs, where the community, usually the 

inner-city, would open up their after hours clubs after the legal hours and 

bars closed.  You would get in there, and it often was associated with 

 

Sergeant Bailey 

1971 
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drugs and, of course, sale of alcohol and prostitution, so a lot of crimes 

developed from those clubs.  I went into a lot of them more than once.  I 

just changed my appearance.  In one case, José Flood, I raided him seven 

times, got in every single time looking different and he’d say to me every 

time, “I’ll know you next time.”  So, the last time I raided him, I put all my 

hair on top of my head and sprayed it silver.  It was kind of funny, 

because they were doing security in the Police Department at the time, 

too, and I came in at 1:00 in the morning and walked past the front desk 

where you’re supposed to check in and I had a hood on, a coat and a hood 

on my head, and I hid my purse under my coat, so I looked quite 

suspicious, and I just walked past the front desk and into the elevator and 

upstairs.  The guys in the vice unit just roared when they saw me and they 

said, “Didn’t they stop you downstairs?”  And I said, “No, they didn’t.”  

So, they thought they’d have fun, so they called the front desk and said, 

“There’s a strange person roaming the hallway here, did you notice?”  

And, the guy at the desk said, “Oh, you mean Carolen Bailey?” 

 [Laughter] 

CB: But, I got José Flood that night, for the seventh time.  It was a problem, 

because they very seldom ever let white men into these illegal after-hours 

clubs, but they would let white women in, so that’s why I was used for 

that purpose.   

 

There was a club called the Turtle Club that was infamous and they tried 

to close the Turtle Club so many, many times and there were so many 

problems about it and nobody could ever get in.  So, I went over in 
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Minneapolis and made a whole bunch of connections with people that 

were going to go into the Turtle Club.  So, I went with them from 

Minneapolis over to Saint Paul into the Turtle Club and raided it.  I took a 

spit sample of the liquor I had and so forth while I was in there and they 

came in and raided it.  It was kind of ironic, it was in the newspaper, I 

went over to one of the detectives to talk to the detective when they raided 

the place and a uniform patrol officer said, “Look lady, you’re not leaving 

here.”  And the detective laughed and said, “Don’t you know who this 

is?”  And they explained who I was and we all laughed and that was the 

end of it.  But the newspaper – I was called into the chief’s office the next 

morning ‘cause he was very alarmed that I was mistreated, because the 

newspaper quoted me as saying it was the most harrowing experience in 

my career to be arrested and hauled away.  [Laughter] And, I told the  

Chief Lester McAuliffe that that didn’t happen and he was reassured.  He 

was very protective of me and he used to say to the officers that were my 

backup, “If one hair on her head is damaged, mail your badges in, don’t 

come in.” 

KC: When you say you raided them, what all does that mean? I don’t think 

know. 

CB: Well, we had to get into the clubs to prove that they were selling liquor.  

That wasn’t always easy, very tricky to get in sometimes.  But in the case 

of the Turtle Club, I just picked up people that they knew and they 

brought me in, you know that the Turtle Club knew, in Minneapolis, and 

they just brought me in and they figured I was some woman from 
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Minneapolis and I got in.  I got a commendation and three days off for 

that.  That was the last of the commendations where you got time off. 

KC: So, you would go in, you would see them serving liquor then did you call 

in other officers? 

CB: Well, we had it set up that I’d be in there, it varied in the time, but usually 

about twenty minutes, and if I didn’t come out or they didn’t hear from 

me in twenty minutes, they would come in and raid it.  Sometimes we 

didn’t want to be identified, so we’d be a little more careful about who I 

was.  But most of the time, we didn’t care, ‘cause I changed my 

appearance every time, you know.  There’s a lot of drama, I loved doing 

that.  I was in the senior class play and all that in high school and I wrote 

plays and I just enjoyed the drama, the undercover work.   

 

One of the most fun undercover jobs I ever had was the gypsies.  We had 

gypsies coming into town and they would bilk people.  First of all they 

would set up a little sign and they’d tell you they were telling fortunes, 

but then they would charge you for candles.  Some of these people, 

especially some of the elderly people, lost a lot of money to these gypsies.  

So, I really loved doing that, because to fool the master of deception, 

which I considered these gypsies, they were really shrewd. I’d come in 

there and I’d get real tears over my cancer or over this, or my husband left 

me, or whatever and it was just fun, I enjoyed it.  As soon as you arrested 

the queen, that’s my term used loosely, then they would all leave town, 

they’d post bail and then they were gone.  And that’s all we really cared 



 18 

about, we didn’t want to lock them up forever or anything like that.  But 

that was a fun undercover assignment, too. 

KC: [Chuckle] How many times did you fool the queen? 

CB: Well, there were different ones.  They all come and go, you know.  They’d 

do little things, like, they’d sell asphalt work or something and then 

they’d skip out on your money and stuff like that, too.  You’d have to buy 

candles from them and they cost so much money.  They were very, very 

clever. 

KC: So, you didn’t really ever prosecute, because they would leave town? 

CB: We would charge them and they [the judge] would set bail and then they 

would disappear.  

KC: But, in other cases, you would have to testify in court? 

CB: Oh yes.  Most of my undercover work they would plead [guilty], but 

they’d hold out until the day of the trial, especially, when I worked as a 

prostitute.   

KC: Now, is this still in those early years when you’re on assignment? 

CB: No, absolutely not, it’s much later.  This was when I was working for 

Homicide unit. 

KC: About when would this have been?  What were the circumstances of you 

deciding that you were going to go out on the street and be a prostitute? 

CB: Well, I didn’t really decide it.  Judge Bertrand Poritisky ordered that if the 

police officers wanted to work undercover to arrest female prostitutes, 

they would also have to use women officers undercover to arrest male 

customers, otherwise it was discriminatory.  So, when that order came 
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from the court, I went into Assistant Chief Bill McCutcheon’s5 office and 

told him that I wanted to do this, this was a great opportunity and I 

believed in the equality of it. 

KC: Do you have any idea what year that was?  Early 1970s? 

CB:  [Here is a picture.] I think that’s the very first one I ever worked on. 

[The picture is signed ‘74].  [I had just pulled off my blond wig when Sgt. 

Paulos6 pointed his camera at me, so I put the wig back on crooked, 

because I really didn’t think he’d take the photo.] 

KC: And we have this wonderful picture of Carolen in a tight yellow sweater, 

short, short red skirt, blonde wig, standing on a corner absolutely looking 

like a good hooker. 

CB: [Chuckles] I wore colors that would remind anyone of a street light, bright 

red stop signs and yellow slow down colors.   

 

Most of our prostitution problem at that time was on Selby Avenue and 

Western.  Most of the girls, and I say girls because they were juveniles, 

working that area were 12, 13, 14 years old, very young girls.  And, when I 

told McCutcheon that I should do this, he said, “Well, we’ll try it, but I 

think you’re too old.”  And I never let him forget it, because the first hour 

and five minutes, I had eleven arrests and that total day, I had sixty.  

Every time I had him as a captive audience where I was giving a speech or  

                                                
5 William Wallace McCutcheon was appointed patrolman January 4, 1954; promoted to sergeant 

August 22, 1960; lieutenant December 12, 1965; captain June 20, 1969; deputy chief February 4, 

1972; chief April 1, 1980; and retired July 15, 1992. 
6 Paul Richard Paulos was appointed patrolman January 4, 1954; promoted to sergeant December 

12, 1966; and retired September 4, 1990.    



 20 

accepting an award, I would have the Chief stand up and I would tell 

them about his remark that I was too old, and the audiences loved it, they 

clapped and 

everything. 

KC: How did you know 

how to do it, that first 

time, to go out and 

know what to say? 

CB: Well, I’d seen it, it was 

blatant, the prostitution 

operation, plus since 

most of them were 

juveniles, I talked to a 

lot of the juveniles that 

were working the street 

doing these things and 

they had told how their 

pimps worked and 

everything else.  So, it 

was no problem.  I was 

just simply careful not to entrap.  I would just stand there and if a car 

pulled up and said something to me, I’d simply respond so that they 

would offer so much  

 

 

 
Carolen, undercover 

1974 
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money for a certain act and then I would get in the car and I would direct 

them to the Saint Paul Vo-Tech7 parking lot and at that point I would 

arrest them.   

 

Now, it became necessary a couple times for me to make an arrest before 

then.  One of them was a man that was out on the Huber Law8 from the 

workhouse and he said he hadn’t gotten anything for so long and he 

really needed something, and he pulled over to the side of the curb, didn’t 

want to go to the parking lot, so at that point I showed my badge and he 

lost [it].  He had not taken the car out of gear apparently, and he let up on 

the brake and it hit the bumper of the car in front of it.  So, there were  

 

 

 

 

                                                
7 Saint Paul College moved to 235 Marshall Avenue in 1966. This school was founded in 1910 as a 

private school, Rice Industrial School. It became part of the City of Saint Paul’s Public School 

System with locations at Mechanic Arts High School and Central High School. In 1919 it became 

St. Paul Boys Vocational High School at 14th and Jackson Streets. Circa 1940 the Girls Vocational 

High School was formed. In 1945 it became AVTI—Area Technical Institute. In 1966 it moved to 

the current location and became TVI—Saint Paul Technical Vocational Institute. Becoming Saint 

Paul Technical College in 1987. In 1995 became a member of Minnesota State College and 

University System (MnSCU) becoming a comprehensive community and technical college. In 

2002 the name was changed to Saint Paul College. 
8 Huber Law is a court authorizes a jail sentence where the inmates are permitted to leave the jail 

to go to work; provide necessary care for their minor children; or to attend educational or 

treatment programs. 
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some individual cases that were kind of interesting.  I arrested people 

ranging from a judge to an attorney.  Usually, they were sleaze-balls, but 

there were a lot of rather respectable people, too, as well. 

KC: Did you know it was a judge when he approached you? 

CB: I didn’t know him as a judge, it wasn’t in Ramsey County. He wasn’t a 

judge in Ramsey County.  But after we made the arrest, I did. 

KC: So the first hour out, how successful were you? 

CB: The first hour and five minutes, I happened to look and it was one hour 

and five minutes, I had eleven.   

KC: And by the end of the night? 

CB: I told all my backup and everything, that I could make a lot more money 

doing this than being a cop, but of course then, I would have not been able 

to have a turnover as fast, because as soon as I made the arrest in the 

parking lot, the backup officers would drive me up and drop me off again  

and, so, I had another one right away.  That whole parking lot was full. 

KC: How many backup officers were there to support you? 

CB: Oh, my goodness, I can’t remember now, but it was the vice, well, it was 

morals, I think it was morals at that time, they changed it from morals to 

vice, no it would have been vice, because that’s what they signed the 

picture, so it was already changed from morals.  They were all out, the 

people in the vice squad were there.  Then we had uniform patrol officers 

that were escorting each arrest, so it would be hard to say so, probably, 

half a dozen squads moving back and forth. 

KC: A big operation. 

CB: Well, not terribly, but it was busy. 
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KC: Was there ever a close call, anytime where maybe you became a bit afraid? 

CB: Working undercover?  Never.  I always knew that I had people, I had the 

Police Department behind me.  I felt a lot safer than when I was a social 

worker and I went up in the same area without a gun, without training, 

without a backup I always felt safe.   

 

Now, there were a couple times when I was apprehensive about getting 

assistance.  But it was interesting, because anytime I said, “Officer needs 

assistance,” they were there.  I mean, THEY WERE THERE.    

 

One time, very briefly, I was questioning a very large oriental man and it 

was regarding a sex crime to a young child and he became despondent.   

He admitted it all to me, I had an interpreter. 

KC: Where were you questioning him? 

CB: In his home.  It was in the McDonough Housing Project.  I had an 

interpreter there and after he admitted it, he became very despondent and 

I could tell what he was going to do.  He jumped up and – we were in the 

kitchen – and he reached for a sharp knife in the drawer.  I reached the 

knife at the same time as he did, so we both had a hold of the handle.  He 

was not coming for me, he was going to commit suicide, and I yelled to 

the interpreter, “Dial 911, officer needs assistance.”  And, she did, the 

phone was right near there, too.  She said, this is so and so, officer needs 

assistance at such and such an address.  In the meantime, he and I are 

struggling over this knife and the handle came off.  So, I succeeded in 

holding him and I would say, it couldn’t have been two minutes, the 
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backup was there.  I mean, not only backup, but the sergeant in the 

backup, I mean, they were always there.  So, on those occasions, I always 

felt comfortable, because I knew if I asked for help, I’d have it. 

KC: You weren’t wearing the pack radios on those days then or did you wear a 

radio? 

CB: I wasn’t in uniform, so as a plainclothes investigator, and I was working 

homicide then, you just carry your pack set. 

KC: Were you given a gun at the beginning? 

CB: Oh, absolutely.  I wasn’t given a gun, I had to buy it and then I had to 

prove that I could shoot.  I still have that .38 snub nose Smith & Wesson.  I 

did give my uniform weapon to the Minnesota Historical Society when 

they took a few artifacts.  I always had a gun and I always qualified.  I did 

good.  As a matter of fact, I never went hunting, 

but we had to shoot birdies9.  Once every 

summer, we had to go out and qualify in the 

outdoor range, at least once.  The person that shot 

the most birdies, didn’t have to help pick up the 

wads and stuff in the range after the shootings.  

Usually, the officer that was doing the range 

would say, “Everybody get out there and pick up 

the wads.”  Or whatever he called them at the 

time, I don’t remember.  And, he says, “Except 

Carolen.  Carolen Bailey, she doesn’t have to and 

                                                
9 Birdies / clay pigeons / skeet. A disk of baked clay or other material hurled into the air from a 

trap as a target.  

 

Carolen’s 

Lieutenant ID card 

1986 
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it has nothing to do with her being a woman, she out shot you guys.”  I 

used to love that. [Laughter]  I don’t know, I never went hunting like they 

did, but I could shoot those birdies. 

KC: You only had to qualify once a year? 

CB: No, no, no, I had to qualify every month, like the other officers, but it was 

indoor range, so it was just routine shooting.  But, once every summer you 

would do shoot, no shoot, and all that sort of thing, all the special things 

outside. 

KC: Were you given any training when you came on in 1961? 

CB: Yes, I was given training for shooting, I wasn’t given any other training.  

KC: And you were a good shot from the beginning? 

CB: Well, it took a little while.  When we went into the Glock,10 and I really 

believe what precipitated that, was something that happened from our 

northwest patrol team when I was a lieutenant out in that patrol area and 

we went to the Glock.  But, by that time, when we went to the Glock, I was 

in charge of the vice squad and there were four of us lieutenants, who 

were too busy, really, to devote time to [for the training] – they allowed 

two full days for training on the Glock and you had to shoot, I believe, 

eight hundred rounds during that time period, and we only had the 

morning.  Instead of having the two days, the four of us only had the 

morning.  It wasn’t the shooting of the Glock, I love the Glock, it was nice 

and smooth and easy, but reloading must have done something, and I 

                                                
10 The Glock 9mm semi-automatic pistol became Saint Paul’s Bureau of Police ’s Glock service 

weapon in 1988. Glock is an Austrian weapons manufacturer. Mainly known for being the 

manufacturer of polymer-framed pistols. 

http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Austria
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Polymer
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Receiver_%28firearms%29
http://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/Pistol
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read some articles about it later, but after I’d almost shot eight hundred 

rounds and reloaded eight hundred rounds, my thumb popped out and 

gave me no control over shooting it.  I had to have a couple operations 

after that, but I didn’t have any real problem qualifying again. 

KC: What were the circumstances that created going to the Glock? 

CB: When I was working as a commander in the northwest patrol team, which 

was the highest crime area.  We had a lot of what we called cowboys, 

officers who were young, eager, a little over enthusiastic, but really 

wanted to be where the action was and it really made my job easy, 

because even though it was my first patrol assignment – I told them, in 

roll call, my first roll call with braces on my teeth, I said, “You know, I’ve 

never worked patrol and I have a lot to learn and I intend to learn from 

you, but I’m a fast learner.”  They seemed to accept that and they helped 

me.  I mean, the officers were wonderful, when they wouldn’t volunteer 

for their sergeants, they always volunteered for me.  They were great.  I 

loved working patrol.  It was a great assignment.  Anyway, I started a 

couple new things in the northwest patrol team and one of them was the 

“Top 10 Wanted” and I would get lists of warrants and stuff and people 

that we knew in our area and their mugs and I’d set up a “Top 10 

Wanted” northwest patrol team.  On this sign, when they got them, I’d 

mark it and give them credit – officer so and so arrested so and so.  So, the 

guys really worked to get those warrants and get those people that we 

wanted, arrested.  Well, one night I was doing midnight roll call and I 

pointed to one of the guys and I said, “You know, this guy hangs out at 

such and such a bar.”  And, I said, “I can’t believe you guys haven’t gotten 
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him yet.”  Well, after roll call, one of the officers headed over there, to this 

bar, and as he was doing so, a call came in with a man with a gun at the 

bar, and as he pulled up, I can’t recall the exact time sequence, but this 

man started shooting him and he shot our officer. 

 

The officer had a regular six shooter and he shot all six rounds and it was 

probably the last one that killed him, the bad guy, but the officer was shot, 

too.  We just didn’t have enough firepower.  There was a lot of talk from 

then on, I think that’s why we decided we had to get into the Glock, 

because he didn’t die and he did a good job.  In fact, he even apologized 

that he didn’t get the guy I wanted. 

KC: You mentioned your roll call in braces, tell me that story. 

CB: I always had slightly crooked teeth and I always wanted them fixed, but 

in Brazil they didn’t really have any good quality orthodontic care, when I 

was growing up.  Well, then after I went to college, you don’t want to 

have braces in college and stuff, and then I got married and I had a family 

and everything.  Well, once I finished paying for college for all three of 

our sons, then I said it’s time for my braces.  So, I went and got braces. 

KC: How old are you? 

CB: It was in 1985 and I was born in ‘36, so I was 49.  It just so happened that I 

was promoted at the same time and the day that I got my final braces on, 

was my first day in patrol.  Because after I was promoted to lieutenant 

they put me in patrol right away which I had no objection to.  In the early 

days, a lot of the women didn’t want to do patrol. I just thought it was 

great.  It was a whole new experience, you know, of getting to know the 
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officers and how it worked.  I really enjoyed it, it was an important part of 

my career. 

KC: Having worn braces, I know that that first day when the braces are 

irritating the mouth and you mouth gets full of canker sores and its just 

plain hard to talk. 

CB: Yeah, it was, and I had to do roll call and I’d never done it before, not only 

had I never done it, I had never seen it.  But, I had a real good way of 

controlling the braces.  I got one of those waterpiks, so after I had a meal, I 

flushed out all the food and everything, so I never swelled up on my 

gums or anything.  When I had my braces taken off, my regular dentist 

couldn’t believe they were just taken off, because he said there was no 

evidence of trauma. 

KC: So, you’re out there, you have braces, so we know those first days you’re 

not talking as well.  You’ve never seen roll call, how did you know what 

to do? 

CB: Well, I knew what was the agenda for roll call and they have the board all 

set up for you, so it was no problem.  I don’t, maybe, I was being naïve, 

but I don’t think, it affected my speech that much.  Maybe I lisped, a little, 

I suppose.  Otherwise, the only thing that was really interesting about my 

braces, was that I was the only one that joked about it.  The officers, never 

mentioned them, never, not one officer ever mentioned my braces.  I did.  

I would make fun of them, I would do all that sort of thing.  The guys 

never did.  That was interesting. 

KC: Were they a bit afraid of you? 

CB: Oh, I don’t think so.  In fact, one guy, who was the  
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sergeant that worked for me, Golden, Steve Golden11,  

he used to call me Mom.   And it wasn’t disrespectful,  

and it wasn’t in front of other people, but he’d say,  

“Hey, Mom.”  And then he later worked for me, too.   

I didn’t really sense anything like that at all.  They  

would defend me, too. 

KC: What do you think your formula was in developing this rapport with the 

male officers? 

CB: I think the most important part was that I didn’t pretend to know it all 

and I made it very clear that I had a lot to learn and that I wanted to learn 

from them.  And I was interested in their opinions, their input, and I have 

always worked as a team.   

 

I was one of the original founders for the Ramsey County Child Abuse 

Team, which was the first community based team in the United States.  I 

also was one of the founders to start SOS, Sexual Offense Services, in the 

early days when they were starting rape crisis centers.  I worked on the 

team concept that all professions work together to get the ultimate good 

and ultimate results.  And that’s the way I ran the units.  I mean, the vice 

squad, I really worked that like a team.  They were omitting one of our 

women officers and it became very obvious to me when I came into that 

unit, that she was not being used properly.  They would use her for 

                                                
11 Stephen Golden was appointed patrolman October 26, 1971; promoted to sergeant October 7, 

1995; and retired September 25, 1998. 

Steve Golden 

1983 
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getting mugs and keeping up files, I mean, a waste of her talents, this was 

Cheryl Indehar12 and she  

was a very capable young woman.   

 

So, what I started doing was having a unit meeting  

every Tuesday morning, in which we would all meet,  

everybody in the vice squad would meet, and would  

talk about our priorities, because the vice unit is very specified 

enforcement.  If you have a special problem or something, you may be 

told to do certain things, but by and large, you can select your own.  So, 

we would say, “Hey, there’s been a lot of problems at this dance hall, let’s 

go after it this time. The neighbors are complaining, everything.”  So, we 

worked together and we gave people certain assignments, like, Cheryl 

was really good with inventory when we went on our searches.   

 

And, one of the other officers was very good in getting search warrants, so 

we had everybody assigned duties and we worked as a team.  And then 

the results, in the first three months that I was in that unit, we surpassed 

the year’s goals of the previous unit that prepared the next year’s goals.  

We surpassed them in three months and we closed operations that had 

been a problem for a long time.  I really think it was because all of us 

working together. 

KC: How many were on your team?    

                                                
12 Cheryl Indehar was appointed police officer July 11, 1977; promoted sergeant July 27, 1986, and 

retired August 31, 2006. 

Cheryl Indehar 

1983 
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CB: Oh, my goodness, I’m not sure, maybe twelve.  Are you talking about the 

vice squad?  

KC: Yes.  When you were doing that. 

CB: Probably about twelve. 

KC: You’ve talked about being a hooker, you’ve talked about going out 

undercover, I have the illusion that you told your husband, “I’m going to 

be a police woman, I’ll have flexible hours and I’m going to be in 

juvenile.”  Juvenile feels safe.  How did the family react when your 

curiosity took you other places? 

CB: Um – our three sons, said they were always very proud of me.  Nobody 

ever worried about me, ‘cause I didn’t worry about me.  My husband, 

there was one incident, I was fairly honest with what I was doing, you 

know, I wouldn’t give him details of a case or anything, but I would say, 

we’re working such and such or whatever, so he was vaguely aware of it.  

But his field was so different from mine, that he wasn’t much interested, 

just like I wasn’t much interested in graphic arts and design.   

 

But there was one time when we had a complaint come in from Miss 

Minnesota.  She had gone to this hair dresser to have her hair cut and set 

and he had molested her.  It was a very detailed, involved thing, I mean, it 

was just a riot, it was quite the talk by anybody that read the report.  But, 

we figured the best way to get him was for me to go in there.  So, I made 

an appointment to get my hair done and I’ll be doggone, if he didn’t 

molest me! It was just a brushing and some conversation. It wasn’t 

anything extensive, but he did brush my chest with his hand.  Well, I had 
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to put that in the report, and when I went home, I had the report in the 

car, ‘cause I was just finishing writing it.  My husband accidentally saw it 

and said,” this was really bad”.  I said,”not really”, and that was the end  

Oh, my husband, Roger, just reminded me, I had a stalker following me 

for quite some time.  It all started, briefly, because this woman was quite 

of it.  He was a little concerned about that.   

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

dangerous and one of the detectives in homicide, Jerry Bodin13, had cases 

involving her.  She sent strychnine to children, she was potentially very 

dangerous.  Bodin had been working on it for months and never quite got 

her yet.  And I was teasing him, you know, we teased a lot in homicide, 

and I said, “Jerry, for pete sake, wrap this up, she can’t be that difficult.”  

And, he’s going on vacation, so, he says, “I’m going on vacation next 

week, you get the case.”  And, I says, “No way, that’s your case.”  The 

captain, who heard me tease, gave it to me.  So, I’ll be doggone, if I didn’t 

                                                
13 Gerald L. Bodin (12/25/1915) was appointed reserve patrolman March 10 1941; patrolman full-

time August 3, 1941; military leave February 16, 1943 to December 8, 1945; promoted to detective 

September 20, 1948; and retired March 11, 1977. 
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get the cases ,and I thought this is it, I’m not gonna fool around with her.  So, I 

got her in and I got a confession.  I can’t remember all of the cases, but she 

was doing bomb threats, she was doing everything.  The reason Roger got 

involved is this, after I got the confession, and she got to know me, and 

everything, I suddenly discovered her everywhere, following me.  I’d go 

out in different cruisers, plain police cars, different ones for lunch or a call 

or anything and I’d look over and there she is alongside of me, driving 

along.  I mean, she was everywhere, following me, constantly.  I chose to  

ignore her, because I knew that she wanted attention and that was why 

she was doing all this other stuff.  I knew she was potentially dangerous, 

so I ignored her for about, well, until I was coming home, I was working 4 

to 12 in homicide and I came home about midnight, and I pulled up in 

front of our house [in Saint Paul], fortunately then officers were still 

required to live in the city. I came home, and my husband met me at the 

door.  He looked outside, and he saw her in a car, parked across the street 

and down a little ways, watching me.  He was upset then, he got upset.   

 

So, I decided that I better do something about it, but I hadn’t yet done 

anything about it when she came in to the police station.  That previous  

night, I just went in the house, and we turned off the lights and that was it.  

I don’t know what the time period is now, ‘cause this was a long time ago, 

but when she came into the police station, I’d already filed complaints 

against her, she was already convicted, she was already on probation or 

parole, I think it was.   
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But she came in and said, “I have to talk to you.”  I said, “What is it?”  She 

said, “When I saw you that one time, I formed a real attachment to you 

and I really wanted your attention.”  I knew that, of course, but I didn’t 

acknowledge it.  And, she said, “I’ve been following you.”  Like I didn’t 

know.  And, she says, “When you paid no attention to me, I was so angry, 

I almost made a bomb for the station.”  I knew a lot of that was drama.  

After that, she sort of faded away, gradually.  But, Roger was alarmed 

about that, because she wouldn’t leave me alone. 

KC: Now, you live in the northern suburbs, you had to move back into the 

city, because you were required to live in the city? 

CB: Yes.  When I was hired, we lived in Roseville, and then they decided to 

enforce the law for all officers that they had to live in the city limits. 

KC: What year was this? 

CB: I started in 1961, so probably ‘62.  So, we had to move into the city, so we 

moved into Como Park and that’s where she followed me.   

 

But by 1970, they abolished that law, they just said you had to be able to 

get into the station within a half-an-hour.  Where we live now, the 

plowing services are so much better than the city that sometimes I was the 

only one that got to work in homicide in a blizzard.  One time, we had 

about seventeen people on the hold book in Homicide and one county 

attorney, Paul Lindholm, available.  I had to take care of all the 

dispositions.  We had twenty-four hours to take care of those in custody.  

Since no one could drive in the City of Saint Paul, I had to walk in deep 

snow from the police station to the courthouse to get these complaints 
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signed.  I was the only one that got there.  I have gotten from our door 

here to the door of the police station in thirteen minutes, without 

speeding, just steady.  So, it really isn’t the distance, it’s what you have to 

go through. 

KC: While you were in the department, were there any other losses of officers 

while you were on the department? 

CB: Oh yes, while I was working Homicide, James Sackett was lured to a 

home. 

KC: That would have been 1970. 

CB: He was lured by a phone call from a female that said her sister was 

expecting a baby, if I remember it right I worked that case, and I also got 

the voice prints, including the one of Connie Trimble, the suspect that 

made the phone call.   

 

I recently testified at the trial that finally convicted them14.  The 

atmosphere at that time was a lot of fear of the gangs, the drug pushers 

and so forth, so that you had  problems trying to get informants and 

witnesses.  We did, but when we went to trial in Rochester, one of our 

informants disappeared. 

                                                
14

 Police officer James Sackett, Sr. was shot by a sniper at 12:30 a.m. on the night of May 22, 1970, 

while responding to a fake police call to a home in the 800 block of Hague Avenue, near Selby 

Avenue and Victoria Street. An 18-year-old woman, Connie Trimble, was charged with making a 

fake call for help, telling authorities that her pregnant sister was ready to give birth. Trimble 

refused to reveal the names of others involved and served time in jail for contempt of court. In 

the spring of 2006, Ronald Reed and Larry Clark were convicted of first degree murder when 

Trimble testified that Ronald Reed persuaded her to make the fake phone call that brought officer 

Sackett to the ambush. Both Clark and Reed received life sentences.  
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KC: What was it like in the department when Sackett was ambushed?  What 

was the attitude?  What were the feelings? 

CB: Well, of course, everyone was very upset about Sackett being shot, 

obviously.  I got to know his wife fairly well, during that whole process, 

even up until the time of the trial, the later trial when we convicted Ronny 

[Reed].  There was a period of time when there was, kind of riots, WATTS 

[California] had a riot, we never had anything that compared to a lot of 

the other areas of the country.   

 

I was working Homicide, so we were called out in the detective division, 

many of the detectives didn’t even have a uniform that fit them anymore, 

so they couldn’t go out in uniform, and I never had a uniform until I was 

promoted to lieutenant, so I was the one that was giving them all the gas 

masks and everything and I would go to the vault and I remember saying, 

“Praise the Lord and pass the ammunition.” And I’d give them a gas mask 

and I’d give them this and that, you know.  I was in a car once in awhile, 

but by and large, I didn’t work the riots on the streets, because I wasn’t in 

uniform. 

KC: Let’s talk about the Sackett case.   

 

 

 
 

James Sackett Sr. 
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CB: One of my scrap books is in worse shape, because it was during the 

Sackett murder, and when Tom Dunaski15 and Jane [Mead]16 picked up on 

that case again, they couldn’t find any files.  So they initially reviewed my 

scrapbooks of articles on the killing.  That began to give them a sequence 

and a place to start their investigation. 

 

 

 

 

 

It became a federal offense to kill a police officer, so it brought the FBI into 

it, which meant that the FBI could give a $100,000 reward for information 

on this case.   Plus the fact 

that the Black Muslims were 

no longer strong and scary 

as they were at the time of 

the Sackett’s murder in 1970, 

it really was a better time to 

reopen this case.  The 

Olmstead County Court 

House seemed to have lost 

                                                
15 Thomas Dunaski was appointed patrolman October 26, 1971; promoted to sergeant October 10, 

1979; named officer of the year 1977; received the Chief Richard Rowan award in 2006.  
16 Jane Mead was appointed police officer June 30, 1986; promoted to sergeant June 26, 1994. 

International Homicide Investigators Association 2007 Cold Case of the Year Award; 2007 

Minnesota Women Police Association Officer of the Year.  
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the files there.  They went down to Rochester, to where the trial had been 

moved.  They eventually found some files in the Ramsey County Court 

House.   

KC:  Were you on that night, when Sackett was ambushed? 

CB:  I was working, but I wasn’t on patrol then.  I was working in Homicide 

then. It’s 1970. 

 

I think I might have been home, because I didn’t go out to the scene until 

the next morning.  So, I might have been relieved before the shooting, 

because it was like midnight or something. 

KC: Did they call you at home and tell you an officer had been killed? 

CB: Captain Ernie Williams17 was in charge of the unit then and he was really 

very supportive.  He would go along with my hunches all the time, even 

to the extent of the guys all telling us that we’re crazy.  He also liked me to 

come in when he came in, in the morning, so that we could start fresh.  

There wasn’t a lot to go on, at the time.  I mean, it was mostly talking to 

informants.  The LEA unit was helping backup.  Law Enforcement 

Assistance Unit, that was in Saint Paul, I think, Russ Bovee18 was in there 

then.  They were helping and they were doing a lot of informant stuff.  So 

then I started doing the voice prints.  We had the phone call of the woman 

who called to lure him to his death, who later turned out to be Connie 

                                                
17 Ernest H. Williams was appointed patrolman November 1, 1949; promoted to detective October 

1, 1954; detective lieutenant July 1, 1964; rank changed to captain February 1, 1965; and retired 

August 25, 1975. 
18 Russell W. Bovee was appointed policeman January 2, 1957; promoted to sergeant October 1, 

1964; lieutenant January 11, 1973; and retired January 1, 1990. 

 



 39 

Trimble.  So I took a half a dozen tapes of different suspects,  and I talked 

to Ernie Nash in Michigan, the University of Michigan, who was the voice 

print expert.  He would try to tell me what to do that would make it easier 

for the voice comparison.  What words to get her to say, things like that.    

 

We got good voice prints on five or six suspects and none of them were it, 

until Connie Trimble came up.  Well, Connie Trimble did not have a 

telephone and these had to be taped like the call to the police department.  

So, I figured out that she was on welfare and that she could be called into 

the Welfare Department and I could place the call into the office where 

she was.  I happened to have worked at the Welfare Department before I 

came to the Police Department, as a caseworker, which was required as 

experience for a policewoman at the time.  Men didn’t have to have 

college, but women had to have college degrees with experience in social 

work, which I had.  So then I called my former supervisor,  

Don Tomsuden, a fantastic man. I asked him if he would call her into his 

office, and then I would call his office and he could put her on the 

telephone.  He said he felt the horrendous nature of the crime justified 

anything he could do for us, which I really admired in him.  So that’s what 

we did, we got her in there, and we had a time set, then I called his office. 

He put her on, and I asked her various questions and got her to say 

exactly what we needed, so we were able to prove that she made the 

phone calls.   
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As a result of that, the Welfare Rights Organization began, because some 

thought we used that inappropriately.  It was never proven.  Everybody 

was in sympathy of us, but they raised a lot of ruckus.  There was even a 

contract out for me.  They were passing flyers out at the courthouse, the 

Black Muslims, had given a contract for me. 

KC: A contract to kill you? How does that feel? 

CB: I wasn’t worried, we lived out here [in the suburbs], and nobody can find 

here, I mean, unless you give them directions, and even then it’s not easy.  

I wasn’t the least worried.  I never was scared on the department, because 

I always had total confidence in my backup.  I always figured, if I can’t 

handle it, they will be there to help me.  And I always thought I could 

handle it, in those days you think you can do everything.  So, anyway, we 

got the voice print and, of course, we had a slam dunk case.   

 

It was only after [Lawyer] Doug Thompson learned that the Minnesota 

Supreme Court upheld our voice print – that was the first State Court in 

the United States to uphold voice prints as evidence – and when the 

Minnesota Supreme Court upheld that, Doug Thompson took an entirely 

different route on the defense.  In Rochester, Minnesota defending Connie 

Trimble, he turned around and admitted she made the call and took the 

defense that she didn’t know what it was about.  And then one of our key 

witnesses got scared to death, he’d been threatened and he disappeared, 

so we lost that case.   

KC: You had a lot of contact then with her? 

CB: Yeah, quite a bit. 
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KC: Was she on drugs at that time?  Was she willing to admit anything? 

CB: She had two children by Ronny Reed, who was the shooter, and she 

wasn’t about to talk.  Plus, they were dangerous.  They practiced shooting 

in the basement of the [Inner City Youth League] over on Selby Avenue. 

KC: How do you know that they practiced shooting there? 

CB: Oh, we heard all about it.  We knew everything.  We knew who did it.  We 

always knew who did it.  And when we were able to get Ronny Reed for 

robbery, he was sent away by the feds for robbery for maybe twenty-nine 

years, we were kind of happy with that.  Everybody else was scared, the 

timing was bad,, so at that point when we convicted Reed and he went up 

to a federal sentence, we were quite content.   

 

It wasn’t until they let Reed out, many decades later, that then the FBI 

picked it up and Tom Dunaski and Jane Mead, both did a fantastic job of 

bird-dogging this case, that’s all they did. 

KC: Had Dunaski worked on the case early on with you? 

CB: No, I don’t think so.  Tom Dunaski used to work for me in the Vice unit, 

so I knew him well, and I have a lot of respect for him.  He’s driven, he’s 

really earnest in following up on leads .  And Jane’s fantastic, too.  Jane 

wasn’t even on the Department at the time of the killing and I don’t think 

Tom worked on it. 

KC: So you said you knew, I mean, when you knew that Connie Trimble had 

made the call then you knew that Ronny Reed had to have been the 

shooter? 
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CB: We knew that Ronny Reed was the shooter, before we proved that Connie 

Trimble made the call.  See, we knew it was a woman that called and she 

was his girlfriend, so that’s how we zeroed in on her, because of him. 

KC: How did you know that Ronny Reed had done it? 

CB: Oh, I can’t remember all the details, but it was not a secret.  The word was 

out everywhere, and we had a lot of information from resources.  So we 

knew about all this, it was a question of proving it and people were too 

afraid.  The Black Muslims were pretty threatening at the time. 

KC: What was it like when the case is reopened thirty years later?  It was just 

tried in 2006, so thirty-five years later. 

CB: They had been working on it for a couple years or more.  It was over a 

year before the trial that they called me and came out here a couple times, 

and I gave them the scrapbook to go on and information I recalled.  I was 

testifying on some very specific information, so it was no problem.  We 

were down in Rochester for a whole week during [Connie Trimbel’s trial 

[in 1972].  It really wasn’t that difficult for me because I didn’t have to do a 

lot of specific conversations.  I had reports that covered everything I did 

and everything I had her say on the recording. That was primarily what 

my testimony was and then it was stopped for the Supreme Court Ruling.  

You know, the Trimble case was pending while they appealed it to the 

Supreme Court. 

KC: How does it feel thirty-five years later to have worked on a case and 

finally, there’s a conviction? 

CB: Oh it’s great, it’s really great.  I just felt that the twenty-nine years for 

robbery was some justice, anyway, so I never did feel like we had really 
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lost it.  We knew who did it and we still had the hopes of maybe 

reopening it, but, at least, we had him off the street. 

KC: Any other stories you’re remembering today?  

CB: We were eating 

dinner at home with our 

whole family, and I get 

this phone call where this 

guy says, “You wouldn’t 

be interested in a 

massage, would you?”  I 

responded impulsively, 

“Of course not.”  And he 

says, “Are you sure? You 

know maybe you would 

like a massage.”  And 

then my brain started working.  All the massages during those times were 

sex acts, it was all call girl activity and so forth, and here was a guy asking 

me if I wanted to pay for a massage.  So, my brain clicked, “Well tell me 

more about it.”  So, he says, “Well, I’ll give you a massage anytime you 

want.”  And I said, “Where do you go?”  And he said, “I go anywhere you 

want.”  So my brain is working oh, I can take him into the Saint Paul 

jurisdiction.  So, to make a long story short, we had a couple more phone 

conversations, and then I set it up where we had a room at the Hilton 

Hotel, and I had the Vice squad backing me up.   
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I was working Homicide at the time, and he came to the hotel room.  I 

remember all the guys telling me that, before you identify yourself and 

place him under arrest, ask him what do most woman want, and so forth. 

It was hilarious.  So then I placed him under arrest, and this is the mug, I 

always saved it, because it was such an unusual case.  The poor guy, he 

shouldn’t have gotten out of bed that morning, calling me at home.  

What’s the date on the mug?  That would be when it happened – 

November 17, 1981. 

KC: But your brain went right back to police work. 

CB: Yeah, and I brought him into the jurisdiction where I had authority, 

because out here I had no jurisdiction and no hotel.  Then I got the back 

up, the Vice squad was in an adjoining room, and we got him. 

KC: Saint Paul’s creativity again. 

CB: That guy should never have gotten out of bed that morning. 

KC: I think we’ll finish for today, and next time I’ll come back and we’ll 

explore the scrap books. 

 

 

 

 



 45 

 

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

January 15, 1967 
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May 18, 2007 interview  

[The historian is Carolen, through a series of eleven scrapbooks, preserved 

a significant record of her career and the changing times for women in 

policing. In this edited interview, Kate and Carolen review several of 

these books.]  

CB: This book is 1977 to 1979.  That was my heavy training time, when I was 

asked to do a lot of training. 

KC: You’re a sergeant now? 

CB: Yes. 

KC: So you’ve taken the test and passed it and you’re beyond a police woman 

and they’re acknowledging you as an equal patrol person. 

CB: Here’s the Kansas City Star, the news article starts: 

  Women police applicants find various physical not mental . . . and down here 

it says, sometimes additional entrance requirements are created to serve as 

barriers to women. Sergeant Carolen Bailey of the Saint Paul Police Department 

homicide unit said, “One suburban Minneapolis community added in a 

requirement of scaling a six foot wall when a woman applied for a job as an 

officer, although no such walls existed in the city.”  That is Linda Miller, she 

fought that, she went to court six times. 

 

I firmly believe that as soon as there’s equal representation on the 

departments, the prejudice will decrease dramatically.   
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KC: And that was Bloomington [Minnesota]. 

CB: The woman became an officer after she challenged the requirement in court and 

won.  Sergeant Bailey noted that law suits are being filed across the country 

challenging the applicability of physical requirements to police work.  It goes on 

about -- Another problem mentioned by the officers is points awarded on civil 

service exams for military service.  Most of the men are veterans and they get 

right on the top of the list, Sergeant Bailey said, the officers noted initial 

resistance by men began when women began moving out of more background job 

investigations and juvenile work, and began applying for jobs that put them on 

the streets.  So, it’s quite a story about that.   
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CB: Linda Miller became very highly regarded 

though and was promoted to sergeant, but she 

sure had a battle getting on. 

KC: And then I think she went onto the Community 

Policing Institute or something like that. 
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 Here is a letter from the Dakota County Sheriff showing how you were 

loaned to other departments for your expertise. [In this case it is for a 

juvenile criminal sexual contact case.] 
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 And here is part of an undated article from the 1977-79 scrap book that 

describes your work. 
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KC: Here we have an article about another female officer were you are quoted 

from the Minnesota Daily November 30, 1978. 
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  Here’s – I was appointed by Governor Rudy Perpich to the Peace 

Officer’s Standard and Training Board on August 10, 1977.  And another 

certificate for that board in July 1978. 

This is good for timing to show different things, too. 

   And this, the jokes that the guys played on me. [It is headlines from a 

pretend newspaper, the Old Tucson News. It says: CAROLEN BAILEY BEING 

HELD IN TUCSON JAIL!]  

Nowadays, I suppose they wouldn’t dare do it. 

  Here’s -- woman cop on the most wanted list. Pioneer Press-Dispatch              

December 31, 1977 
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  And then we have the International Association 

of Women Police Conference held in Saint Paul in 

1978. 

KC: Did they ever bring it back here? 

CB: We brought them back here in 1990, again. 

  This is interesting.  These are all past presidents 

and every single one of them is dead, except me 

and Kathy.  The rest have all died. 

KC: Does that have to do with stress on the job? 

CB: I don’t know, it could be.  I just heard that one of 

them just died of a brain  tumor in Philadelphia. 

  Here’s our mailing for the conference in 1978. 
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IAWP Conference Parade 

Kellogg and Wabasha 

Saint Paul Minnesota 

October 8-13, 1978 
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IAWP Conference 

Saint Paul Minnesota 

October 8-13, 1978 
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CB:    I was on the Law Enforcement Assistance Administration (LEAA) in 

Washington DC and that was my Certificate of Appreciation they gave for 

me. 

KC:    This one says “Victim Urged to Prosecute” it’s a newspaper article with 

your picture. 

CB: I take horrible pictures.  

KC: Alice sat with her coffee cup in her hand and telephone in the other, hearing the 

noise, looked up and saw a man in her home.  “Mabel” she said, the woman on the 

other end of the line, “I’ll have to call you back.”  Politely, she asked the man 

“what do you want?”  “A drink of water.”  

CB: Well, what my point was, if somebody walks into your house, don’t treat 

them politely.  Recognize what the situation is and take control of it as 

quickly as possible, and I think that was an example.  I imagine the story 

goes on to say more of that. 

   Here I got the award for the Twin City Panhellenic Association Alumni 

of the Year at the University of Minnesota. That's all the sororities.   

KC:  Here is an article from March 1978 Minnesota Association of Women 

Police conduction regular training session.  
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CB: Then this goes 1979 to 1981. 

    More training publicity.  

   This is an article I wrote for the Police Chief 

magazine called Incest a Practical Investigative 

Guide.  This was published in April 1979 issue of 

Police Chief magazine.  And that was in the days 

when we were just beginning to talk about sexual abuse and incest within 

the family. We were really trying to increase awareness to sexual assault 

 
Carolen 1980 
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and child abuse and battered women. Here’s a big story on family 

violence. 
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KC: So, you were a marketing person, getting the word out? 

CB: We were doing more training, awareness training types of things. 

    Here’s one that I did at Cornell University in New York. 

    Here’s South Dakota State University. 

   This is one of the very involved investigations I 

did of Bethel Care Center and Harold Mordh, the 

director of the Union Gospel Mission, and we 

finally indicted him and convicted him.  That was 

in November 1979.   

KC: Let’s talk about the Harold Mordh case. 

The convictions came in ‘79, so this would have 

been late 70s.  How did you first come upon this 

case? 

CB: I had been aware of Harold Mordh for 

several years. 

KC: And his position was? 

CB: Director of the Union Gospel Mission and 

owner of the Bethel Nursing Home.  In the Union 

Gospel Mission he started what they called 

“Friendship Center” and that was where they had 

teenagers come and stay like a camp.  I had a girl 

come in, just a beautiful girl, and she was all beat-

up.   She walked in and said she wanted to talk to 

me, so she came in and I was working in homicide 

and she was really in bad shape.  She said that her  
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parents had brought her from Michigan because they thought that the 

camp experience at the Union Gospel Mission would be good for her, so 

she went there.  And then she describes in great detail how Carol 

Flumbaum, the assistant to Harold Mordh, had stood outside her room as 

guard, so she couldn’t leave, and he came in her room in the middle of the 

night, put a gun down on the dresser and beat her and raped her.  

Another girl came 

in later, so we had 

two known 

victims.  This other 

girl was an 

adjudicated 

delinquent, and she 

was at Friendship 

Hall because of her 

delinquency, so she 

wasn’t as credible, 

but this first girl 

was impeccable.  

We had two cases, 

and they were both exactly the same, he came in, put a gun on the dresser, 

beat them up while Carol Flumbaum was standing outside of the door, 

guarding it.   So I tried to get him on that.  The County Attorney was 

afraid of doing it because everybody thought Harold Mordh was God, he 
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was director of the Union Gospel Mission and he was God, he was a great 

salesman. 

  

I was after Harold Mordh all this time.  We went to the Grand Jury and 

everything and I won’t even go into what happened at the Grand Jury, but 

it was fixed.  So, it wasn’t until the late ‘70s that I got the director of his 

nursing at the nursing home,  and she started telling me stories that 

looked like Jim Jones, drugs, guns, all kinds of illegal activity. 

KC: How did she come in contact with you to tell you stories? 

CB: She called me.  I can’t remember how, but anyway I got her as an 

informant.  From her, I started getting other ones, the bookkeeper, all 

kinds of people that were in key positions working for Harold Mordh.  I 

wound up with at least a dozen witnesses.  As I started to talk to these 

people and collect what they were telling me, I went to Chief Rowan and I 

told him what was uncovering, happening.  Well, this was a hot potato, 

and he told me, “You continue to work on it and you work on it full time, 

but don’t involve anybody else in the department.”  And he said, “And 

check out anybody else you use for information.”  Because everybody was 

– there were so many contacts, this guy had so much influence.  So, I 

worked for, I’d say, maybe six months, on this case and got a lot of 

evidence.  We eventually raided his nursing home, simultaneously with 

his home and his pharmacy, and came up with sixty felony indictments.  

We sent him to prison, we finally got him.  It was a tricky one.  I’d never 

worked on a case that showed so much corruption, not just locally, but 

federally.  I had to work with a federal agent from Chicago, who couldn’t 
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tell his boss because his boss was a good friend of Mordh’s.  It was 

interesting, it was a good case and all his reports tended to disappear – 

that’s another thing. 

KC: His federal reports? 

CB: No, all of the reports that I wrote tended to disappear, so I started keeping 

copies so that we’d have enough to go on.  It was interesting. 

KC: So, in other words, the corruption went into the Department, as well? 

CB: Well, either that or somehow they were able to get something out, yeah.  

Somehow things disappeared.  But I had it, so we got him and he died in 

prison. 

KC: Is it possible that Rowan wanted you to work on it alone because if it blew 

up, it was going to blow up on a woman? 

CB: No, not at all, not at all.  Dick Rowan was one of my strongest supporters.  

He said, “The media likes you. . .” because he was crucified in the media, 

and he said, “The media likes you” he says, “and you handle things very 

well.”  In fact, I’ll never forget when people came and told me – I wound 

up in the hospital during a conference where he was introduced to the 

membership – and he told them at that conference that I was the best 

investigator he ever had. I have always thought a lot of Dick Rowan and 

he had been a real good detective, before he was Chief. 

KC: So he put you on it because you were the one that was going to get it 

done? 

CB: Well, that’s the way I felt and that’s one of the reasons I was motivated to 

do it, too, yes. 
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KC: Did you ever find out what the corruption was within the Department or 

who was the weak link in the Department? 

CB: No.  And I don’t think it was anything big.  It was just people that 

supported him and 

then somebody, 

obviously, that took 

reports, but I don’t 

think it was 

anything else more 

than that.  But all 

over, outside, 

everywhere, the 

media and 

everything, they 

really hurt Chief 

Rowan on this case 

and he certainly 

didn’t want another 

big blow up. 

KC: You mean on the 

earlier Mordh case? 

CB: Yes, that happened 

before I got it. 

Here’s Harold 

Mordh found guilty 
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of three counts. He was found guilty of more than that.  

CB:    Here’s Governor Al Quie, made me a member of the Peace Officer’s 

Standard and Training Board.  The Board set up all the standards that 

eventually developed into the training requirements for police officers in 

the State of Minnesota and the licensing and so forth. 

    Here’s where, after we got into all the other more visible crimes, then 

we started pushing on incest cases and this was part of that.  The 

newspaper did a lot of stuff on that. 

   Women’s Political Caucus appointed me Distinguished Woman in 

Minnesota in 1980. 

    This is the Parade magazine, they did a special feature on women when 

we were at the conference. 

KC:   IAWP – 1980. 

   And here I was a Minnesota 

Association Women Officer of the 

Year, I got the first annual award.  

And here’s Chief McCutcheon with 

me when I received the award. 

KC: And there’s your husband Roger, 

and they gave you roses. 

CB:    Then this article in 1981 said: 

Carolen Bailey thinks women bring something special to police work and she 

wants to help them get the chance to prove it.   It just says, Bailey is a sergeant in 

the Saint Paul Police force and senior woman in the department.  Is in her two 

 

Chief William McCutcheon and Carolen 1980 
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year term a president of the 5,000 member International Association of Women 

Police.  And it does an article about why we need more women.   

 And here, Bailey was one of the founders of Ramsey County Sexual Offense 

Services.  

     Okay, this book is 1981 to 1985.  Let’s see here, it talks about handguns.  

They kept constantly 

reusing pictures of me 

that were just horrid, 

in the newspapers, 

because that’s what 

they had available. 

KC:   This is from 

Judge Kathy Gearin19, 

a letter from then 

Assistant County 

Attorney Kathleen 

Gearin acknowledging 

your excellent 

investigative work and 

getting a partial 

confession. 

 

 

                                                
19 Kathleen Gearin, Ramsey County/Second Judicial District Judge 1987 - present/2007. 
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CB:   Study concludes women police equally effective in the Police Journal of 

December 1981. 
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CB:   Here’s an 

editorial.  Sergeant 

Bailey is right.  This 

is in regard to the 

editorial in 

Monday’s paper 

May 24, 1982.  

Sergeant Bailey is 

right, rape is a 

violent crime 

against women and 

girls.  And then 

she goes on and on about this.  And here’s the article – Halt violence against 

women. Somebody else wrote the article, but I was in it, involved in it. And 

then we had quite a few baby killings in homicide at the time. 
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   This was an interesting case I had.  I was investigating a baby, a small 

child, who had gotten a brain concussion from abuse from his mother.  

The social workers had been unable to make any contact with the family 

and the judge had eventually returned the child.  They couldn’t get any 

contact, so I heard that they had a lot of dogs in the house on University 

Avenue. This made the TV news, too. I took the health inspectors and the 

Humane Society with me, and we went to the house where I grabbed the 

little boy, the three year old little boy, who had been abused.  The house 

had thirteen dogs in it that had never gone outside, it was a total disaster. 

They had to condemn the building.  There were a lot of really cute little 

white poodles, but they had to kill them all, they were just wild.  People 

wanted to adopt them after seeing them on the news.  That was really a 

bad situation. 
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   This is the YWCA Outstanding Achievement Award for 1982. 

KC: This is so incredible, it’s looking at history. 
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   This is where I was appointed to a task force for the Federal Emergency 

Management Agency.  Great historic event, Fred Villella, White House. 

KC: January 1984. 
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CB: It’s kind of interesting, through my contact there, I discovered quite the 

corruption.  I informed a friend of mine that was a supervisor of the FBI, 

and they did an investigation.  The Director was indicted and fired for a 

lot of corruption.  He also used federal monies to build his ex-wife’s house 

and landscape. 

KC: Now how did you discover that?  

CB: It gets pretty involved. 

KC: I mean, you’re just on a board and you show up at board meetings, I 

mean, is this intuition to start – 

CB: No.  The first that I started getting suspicious was because they would fly 

us to Washington DC, and we always had to deal with a private travel 

agency that handled all the federal travel.  I called Northwest Airlines 

locally here and got a list of travel times so that I’d know when I could fly,  

then they would make my reservations.  When I did that, I found out, say 

for example that my airline ticket was two hundred dollars roundtrip, if 

I’d ordered it here.  When I called them and told them what flight I 

wanted, which was within a half-an-hour of when I got the price, it turns 

out my ticket was listed for thirteen hundred dollars, and this was a 

federal travel agency contract.  Then I got to the hotel room, and we were 

waterfront, and the rooms had signs that read like nine hundred dollars a 

day.  I had my own suite and everything, it just seemed very corrupt.  We 

had receptions that were absolutely lavish.  I just started getting very 

suspicious and so I checked with a couple of the other members and they 

had the same thing.  One woman said she was flying from Alaska, went 

down to California on her own and then flew somewhere else and they 
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made all the reservations and she tried to reimburse them for the extra 

distances she went, and they had no part of it.  I had the same experience, 

because I went to Washington DC and then I flew down to Florida and I 

wanted to pay the difference and nobody knew how to do that.  So I 

happened to mention it to one of my friends that was with the FBI, she 

was a supervisor, and she sent some agents to see me here in Saint Paul 

after I was at one of the meetings.  I said, “Do you get to stay in hotel 

rooms for nine hundred dollars a day?”  And they all laughed and said 

they were at the Motel 6 or whatever.  That’s how it all erupted. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

    

 

 

 

 

1984 
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KC: Notice of exam ratings December 1, 1984.  

CB:  That was my lieutenant’s exam. I was far enough ahead in the lieutenant’s 

exam that I was number one.  
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    Here’s – A police woman now lieutenant and there I am with my husband 

at the time of my promotion. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 Distinguished citizens, I was in New Orleans, they appointed me a 

distinguished citizen of National Alpha Gamma Delta. My sorority from 

college.  University of Minnesota. 

 

 

Lieutenant promotion ceremony 

May 26, 1985 

Roger Bailey pin on Lt Badge 
McCutcheon in back left 

 

Right: Roger and Carolen Bailey 
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  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The I.A. W. P Bulletin 

Volume 18, Number 1, June 1984 
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    Here’s a picture – magazines in Israel start like the opposite of ours, the 

cover is at the back.  Here I am in uniform, riding patrol in Israel. 

KC: What year were you there? 

CB: I won’t be able to tell from 

this one, it’s all in Israeli. 

KC: It’s all in Hebrew. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KC: Your first years you were in plainclothes, you weren’t in uniform until 

you became a sergeant, right? 

CB: No, until I became a lieutenant. 

KC: So from 1961 to 1985, you’re in plainclothes.    

 

 

 

 

Carolen on front cover of Israeli police 

magazine 

November 1986 
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CB:    Here’s one from 1986, I love this letter.  It started my book. 

 Dear Carolen, you and I go back even before I became chief here.  Remember the 

Women and Policing Conference in 1978?  It was my only previous visit here.  

You’ve come a long way, baby.  And he goes on and on and on, Many thanks, 

my best wishes, Tony Bouza, Minneapolis Police Chief.  This was after I was 

promoted to lieutenant. 
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CB:    Police Institute of Technology, September 23- 27, 1985 

KC: Now you’re the only woman in this picture of the Police, the only woman 

being trained. 

CB: Institute of Technology, yeah, I am. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

CB:     Barbeque King.  That’s when Bob Fletcher20, who was my midnight 

sergeant in the Northwest patrol team, and I, had to figure out a way to 

get this place closed.  It was a restaurant, but after hours then it ran illegal  

operations of liquor and prostitution and drugs.  So we had to figure out 

how to get them and we finally did. 

                                                
20 Robert Fletcher was appointed police officer July 11, 1977; promoted to sergeant February 8, 

1981; lieutenant February 23, 1987—rank title changed to commander January 4, 2003; leave of 

absence to be Ramsey County Sheriff 1995. 
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KC: What creative policing did you do to do that? 

CB: We had all kinds of ideas, including one that Bob said, “Let’s take a tank 

from the Armory and go up University Avenue and then turn the gun 

towards the second floor of the Barbeque King” he said, “It will empty out 

real fast.”   I said, “Yeah, that’s a great idea.  The only problem is, it will 

probably chew up the roadway.”  But we finally got them on various 

things.  We did raid them, but we finally closed them on income tax 

evasion. 

 

   Here’s a picture of me with Kathy Burke21, one of my very best friends, 

she just wrote the book, “Detective”22. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

                                                
21 Kathy Burke New York City Police Department detective 1968 – 1991. She received New York 

city’s highest commendation for heroism, the Medal of Honor. 
22 Detective, Kathy Burke and Neal Hirschfelf, Scribner, New York 2006 

Kathy Burke & Carolen 

Anchorage, Alaska 1985 
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   Here I am in uniform, they had a cake for me when I was transferred 

out of patrol  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KC: Well, now if they had a cake for you, they must not have been threatened 

by this woman who was their boss. 

CB: Oh, no, like I said, when I went on patrol, I told them “Look it, I’ve got a 

lot to learn, I’ve never worked patrol.  I’ve got a lot to learn and I expect to 

learn from you.”  And I said, “But I learn fast.”  And they were wonderful, 

they took it on themselves to do whatever they could for me.  I was the 

only ranking officer that got volunteers for anything.  I always had plenty 

of volunteers for different details.  The guys were wonderful.  A couple of 

them I saw just not too long ago, and they said, you’re still the best boss 

we ever had. 

 

Carolen in May 1987 
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   I was the commander of the Vice 

squad at the time.  For years, the 

neighborhood complained about 

this dance studio, which was a lot 

more than just a dance studio, and 

we finally, as a team in the Vice 

squad, planned it out and attacked it 

and got it closed. 

KC: That was in 1987. 

CB:   When I was in the Vice unit, there 

was a newspaper war between Saint 

Paul and Minneapolis.  I think they 

wanted to just have one single 

newspaper for both Twin Cities, so 

there was this huge war, and both of 

them decided that getting the most headlines would be on prostitution, so 

they were always haranguing me.  There were many articles. 
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   Here’s Debbie [Montgomery].  She sent me a card and this poem. 
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KC: What was the great day? 

CB: This was October of 1987, Debbie made sergeant.  Debbie had been taking 

the sergeant’s exam and never passing [high enough to be promoted].  So 

I finally said, “Debbie, we have to sit down and buckle down and you’re 

going to pass this one.”  I met with her about three different days and we 

spent hours.  We went over materials, and I kept testing her and 

haranguing her, and she passed. 

 

 And I had outlines for all the books that she needed for the test.  We went 

over and over again.  Because Debbie is always so busy, she didn’t really 

put any effort into studying, and I made her. 

 

It is not often that someone  

like you comes along  

to make a difference in 

 another person’s life, 

 as you have made in mine 

 by just being what two people 

 can best be to each other, friends..  

 I believe that our friendship 

 has grown into something 

 special because we never  

expected anything more of  

the other than friendship  

and because we never gave anything less.   

 

Thank you for your thoughts on one of the greatest days in my life.   

Sincerely, Debbie .M. 

 

 



 86 

KC: And then Debbie tells in her oral history that she had passed at least a 

couple of times, but they didn’t promote her, and they were going to jump 

people and promote her.  At this point the Chief was going to – because I 

guess you can do some jumping, and she said, no, if you don’t promote 

everybody in front of me, I’m not going to take it, because I don’t want the 

harassment. 

CB: As I had remembered, she hadn’t passed, but if she hadn’t passed high 

enough to make it anyway, that would probably be why I would 

remember it that way, too. 

KC: how about veteran’s preference? 

CB: There was no veteran’s preference then. Oh no, she wouldn’t have made 

it, because veteran’s preference was almost unsurpassable.  It wasn’t until 

around 1971 that they abolished veteran’s preference for promotion.  

That’s why I pushed to take the sergeant’s exam.  So, there was no 

veteran’s preference for promotions anymore, at all, when Debbie was 

there. 

   Here’s a whole summary report of my July activities in the vice squad, 

kind of interesting.  I never thought that I’d find it interesting, but now I 

do.. 

KC: Big front page article.  

 Teen prostitution probes stalls  

 In the beginning investigation was a routine matter 

 Bar Licensing compromised 

 Police probe caller list of phone escort service  

 Target in prostitution [probe arrest4d 
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CB: Oh they did many articles when I was in the Vice squad.  They were just 

haranguing me, and I didn’t really talk to them.  But the Chief found out 

another way that they were getting information. 

KC: Somebody else was talking to them? 

CB: Through a City Council member, somebody was talking to a City Council 

member and the City Council member was talking to the media. We got 

bar owners that all went to prison, during that probe. 

   Here I did the People-to-People exchange.  I think I mentioned that I led  

these trips for Women in Law Enforcement to Russia, China, Australia, 

New Zealand.  The People-to-People delegations were in 1988, 1990, and 

1992.   

   Here is a letter from Chief McCutcheon regarding the conviction of Pat 

Carlone on two counts of promoting prostitution.  And it says, Absolutely 

great job.  Some of these were real challenges that had been going on for 

years. 

KC: How were you able to solve that one and get a conviction? 

CB: We teamed it and figured out how to get him.  Here he is, yeah.  That 

made a lot of hit, because he was quite prominent. This one was a 

prominent politician. 

KC:   This one says McCutcheon plans shakeup for vice squad, officers say. 

CB: We were sued and that was okay, that wasn’t any big deal, but the Chief 

was concerned about how the information was getting out, and he did 

find out.  It was one of my officers talking to the City Council buddy.  

He’s a good officer, he really was, and he didn’t mean harm. 

KC: Does he just get redirected or does he get punished? 
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CB: No, he was reassigned. 

   I am a “founding feminist”, the Ramsey County Women’s Political 

Caucus gave me the annual 1988 Founding Feminist Award. 

   Here Heads Delegation to China, here’s Debbie. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

KC: It’s my illusion from looking at all of this history, that you were a National 

and an International expert. 

CB: Well, I did a lot of National and International activity, yeah.  I was also 

President of the International Association of Women Police [1980-1982].  
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   This is one of the funniest, I love this cartoon, and I’m glad I saved it.  

It’s when we were in charge of Special Events – And if we close this lane 

here, this exit here, they’ll never get out.  And the reason it was so funny, is 

because we had Gorbachev visiting the Governor’s mansion on Summit 

Avenue and Lexington, and we had Grand Ol’ Days parade one block 

away with a hundred thousand people and we had to plan traffic control 

in an area that’s pretty tight and the streets coming in, in the goofiest 

ways, one-ways and everything else.  This article wasn’t deliberately 

written for us, but the guys in our unit wrote Saint Paul-Minneapolis. They 

even put me at the blackboard.  It was so funny.  Look at how they’re 

laughing. 
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 I was driving in a squad, just to check how things were going and I came  

            I was driving a squad, just to check how things were going, and I came  

across a one block street that was one-way.  The one-way street was 

blocked off because it led to Summit Avenue, so the drivers couldn’t go 

anywhere.  They were stopped right there.  I wound up doing traffic duty 

for about a half-an-hour, trying to get people out of there, until we could 

correct it.   

KC: Close it off completely? 

CB: No, we had to figure out another way for them to go.  We couldn’t just 

close it off, because then they’d be stuck at the other end.  It was funny.  

We had a lot of events.  The Saint Paul Police Reserves and NAO’s are 

dedicated volunteers and perform the best traffic control.  They assist at 

most large city events. 

KC: These scrap books are a wonderful reference.  

CB: It does give us a time sequence. 

KC: Yes.  They are absolutely fascinating.  

KC: We were just doing some talking about family, Carolen.  How did you 

separate your work life, your family life? 

CB: Well, I loved my work life and, of course, I loved my family life, but they 

were entirely two different fields.  When I went home, I very, very seldom 

thought anymore about it.  The only time I ever remember having work 

interfere with my home, was one time – I went to my first autopsy and it 

was Carol Ronan, a social worker that I knew.  After that autopsy I came 

home and I was going to rotisserie a chicken and the ribs reminded me of 

it, so I called my sister and gave her the chicken.  Other than that, really 
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and truly, I just didn’t think about it when I got home.  I was so busy with 

everything around the home that I just never really thought about the 

work. 

KC: Did you do a lot of extra overtime or you just did various rotating shifts? 

CB: I did rotating shifts, but I also did quite a bit of overtime, especially in 

Homicide when I was called out or working weekends or special 

assignment.  Overtime gave me time off to be with my family, too.  When 

I first came to police work, I was looking forward to working 4:00 to 12:00 

shifts, because I could be home during the day with the children when 

they were young.  So, it had its advantages.   

KC: Did you ever have child care problems or did you kind of work the shifts 

so that your husband could be home? 

CB: I wish that was the case, my husband’s hours were longer than mine.  We 

were really fortunate.  We got a woman, right away, Millie, that the 

children loved, and she came into our house.  We could afford to pay her 

to come to our house instead.  And they didn’t have the daycare centers 

and things they have now.  She stayed with us for many, many years.  

When she finally got remarried, her best friend came instead.  We moved 

out here in 1970, and it was very difficult for anyone without a car to come 

here, anyway.  By this time, our youngest one was in school, so I was able 

to arrange things for after school and that worked out well.  So, I never 

really had a big problem with that. 
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KC: You were promoted to 

sergeant in 1971. By the 

time your were promoted 

lieutenant in 1985 the 

children were grown, and 

out of the home? 

CB: Yes, the youngest would 

be in college.  They were 

gone. 

KC: You spent fourteen years 

in Sex Homicide.  What are some of the additional stories that you can 

remember about being in Sex Homicide and what that work was like. 

CB: We handled primarily all crimes against the persons, in fact, for awhile it 

was called Crimes Against Persons.  We would investigate physical abuse 

or sexual abuse of children, and it was really depleting your energy.  So 

whenever I felt overwhelmed with, say, a child murder or abuse, I would 

take a nice clean ‘who done it?’ homicide.  The cases were so variable that 

you could avoid being burned out.   

 

In fact, I did a lot of training on “burnout” and how you can work so you 

don’t get burned out.  I have a very dear friend, who is still one of my 

dearest friends, who worked for the Minneapolis Police Department and 

she was all this time in family violence, the Family Violence Unit.  I could 

never understand how she could do that all those years.  Finally, she 

reached the point where she was so burned out, she’d cry on the way to 

 
Bailey family holiday card in 1985 
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work.  So, she retired early.  I think you need to protect yourself from the 

burnout.  And I had enough variety that I could. 

KC: Saint Paul was set up where you could chose different cases or you could 

say “I prefer this case at this time” or 

something like that? 

CB: No, it was assigned to you by the captain 

of Homicide, but if you were really eager 

to work on something, the captain 

would certainly take it into 

consideration.  You did get enough 

variety, you didn’t work just one type of 

case. 

KC: Were there any cases that you remember 

that were particularly difficult, that 

stayed with you for a long time? 

CB: Well, there’s some that you remember 

because of the uniqueness of it.  Hugh 

Byon Morse was one of them.  He was a serial killer, and he had killed 

Carol Ronan, the social worker acquaintance. That was one of my first 

homicides I worked on.  He was identified because a Saint Paul resident 

had gone to the FBI building in Washington and had spotted him as one 

of the “10 Most Wanted” and said he lives in Saint Paul and that’s how we 

began to identify him.  There were some of the very outstanding ones like 

Robert Pietraszewski, who was very unique and is still in prison.   

KC: You have a friend who’s murdered and then you’re working on the case – 
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CB: She actually wasn’t a friend, she was a work associate.  She was murdered 

and it just happened to be my first autopsy, so it disturbed me a little bit, 

knowing her.   

 

The very first chief that hired me, he wasn’t on the Department long after I 

joined the Department, Chief McAuliffe.  I remember him telling me that 

he had worked homicide many years and that working homicide was the 

greatest satisfaction, because “you put all the pieces of the puzzle together 

and when they fit, you knew it.”  Absolutely, he was so totally right.  We 

get, not a smoking gun case, but a good ‘who done it?’ and you just start 

putting the pieces together.  When you’re right, you just know it.  I won a 

lot of bets from the guys, I never lost one.  I think women are particularly 

able to assess relationships and in many cases homicides result from 

relationships or what makes sense, too. 

KC: Now, I hear you talking about intuition. 

CB: Well, I think it’s a lot more than that.  I do think that from experience and 

working with people and knowing how people respond to each other and 

so forth, that it’s a tremendous advantage. 

KC: Can you remember a time where just intuitively you knew you needed to 

follow a certain path? 

CB: Oh, many times.  There was one case of a grandmother, she was in her 

sixties, on the east side of Saint Paul, who was found shot to death at the 

bottom of her staircase in the basement.  It was clearly not a burglary, and 

we eliminated most of the obvious motives.  So, when we were canvassing 

the neighborhood, one of the neighbors just remotely, casually mentioned 
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that ten years earlier the victim’s next door neighbor had wanted to buy 

her house and when she refused to sell it, the neighbor began accusing her 

of running a house of ill repute, of prostitution.  It was so remote and so 

bizarre that you wouldn’t normally think about it much, but I put it in my 

report because there was an absence of any other motive, here was this 

wonderful grandmother that everybody loved.   

 

Well, I’m doing my reports that night, and it must have been about 

midnight, when Don Giese, a reporter from the Pioneer Press called me 

and he said “I just got a really strange call.”  And he said, “It was a 

woman, she just had to be crazy and she said that your victim was 

running a whore house.”  Well, as soon as that happened, I knew, I knew 

it was that person!  It just fit, and it wasn’t because of the facts we had 

obtained, it was the absence of any other facts.  Fortunately, we had a 

captain, Ernie Williams, who used to always go along with my hunches 

and he sent everybody, including me, out on this one.  We found the gun, 

and we were able to charge her.  You just know when it’s right.  I won a 

red snapper dinner at Gallivan’s for that, from the guys. 

KC: [Chuckles] So there was a bet? 

CB: Oh, absolutely, the guys were quite irritated that they had to go out on 

this hunch.  They thought it was just a long shot and, of course, it was the 

absence of anything else that made me convinced this was it. 

KC: So now, when you’re working with the guys, do you just enthusiastically, 

passionately say “I really think this is the track, this is where we need to 

go.”?  
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CB: Well, I don’t say, “I really think this is the track.”, but I do say, “He did it, 

this is it.  Let’s prove it.”  You know, I mean, I’m determined, yes, that’s 

probably true. 

KC: Any other cases that you remember working on and finding the 

satisfaction of solving it? 

CB: We did death investigations where there may have been some question 

about the cause of death, so not all of our death investigations resulted in 

homicides.  One of them looked like an obvious homicide, and it occurred 

in Highland Park.  It was a student at Cretin High School, who was found 

dead in the woods with both his thumbs missing.  It looked very, very 

suspicious.  It was not too far from the railroad tracks, so the first thing we 

thought was maybe he was trying to jump the railroad.  I went to talk to 

some of his friends in school and eventually something came out that he 

had talked about doing a pipe bomb.  So, I, right away, figured that’s 

exactly what happened and I called the captain in Homicide.  He detailed 

Earl Miels,23 who was great at crime scene searches, and a couple of the 

other detectives and some patrol officers to go back to the crime scene.  

They began circling the area from where the body was found and 

eventually found the pipe bomb.  So, it was not seen or readily evident at 

the scene, but eventually they did find that.  That was a sad case. 

 

Those deaths are very sad, just like suicides are always very sad.  Because 

you figure that if they could wait a day or a week or a month or a year, 

                                                
23 Earl E. Miels was appointed reserve patrolman November 1, 1949; promoted to detective March 

1, 1962; and retired February 5, 1982. 
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things would look very, very different.  So, I always found that 

particularly tragic.  And then we also got the death by mischief, where 

mostly young boys were masturbating while they were hanging  

Themselves.  The lack of oxygen created the sexual excitement, but 

sometimes they lost control, and they accidentally hung themselves, 

asphyxiated.  Those were sad too, very sad.  The homicide scenes did not 

seem quite as tragic to me, even though they certainly were. 

KC: What was it like doing a mischief death and then coming home to your 

boys? 

CB: Well, I didn’t even relate that, at all.  It was very difficult to deal with the 

parents.  In fact, I did a lot of death notifications, and the challenge is that 

you have to let the parent know what has happened and, yet, you have to 

get as much information as you possibly can from the parents so you can 

proceed quickly on the investigation.   A homicide is usually made or 

broken by the first few days, the first 24 hours are critical.  You need to get 

as much information from the family while you notify them of the death.  

Sometimes they get so distraught that you try to get some information 

before you even tell them. 

KC: Do you remember a death notification that you had to do? 

CB: Oh, sure, a lot of them. 

KC: Any that you want to share? 

CB: Well, nothing that was unique, people get very distressed.  I know that a 

couple times it was so critical that I get information from them that I 

wouldn’t tell them right away, what happened.  But you can’t prolong it 

very much. 
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KC: Then from there you moved to patrol?   Any stories that you can share 

about patrol? 

CB: I really enjoyed working patrol.  I used the Saint Paul Police book to study 

the faces and names of all the officers that were assigned to the Northwest 

Patrol Team, so I learned them very quickly.  Within a week, I knew 

everybody’s name.  We probably had a hundred officers working there.  A 

lot of them, because it was a high crime area, were what I call cowboys.  

They wanted to work where the action was and they’d get all excited.  So 

part of my job was when there was a big case, going out and putting some 

of those officers back in service, because they would all infiltrate, like a 

herd of elephants, on something that was sensational.   

 

There was one time that was kind of fun.  It’s involved FBI agents.  We 

had a man, John Patrick Murphy, who was a stalker, and he did it all, just 

name it, he was really screwed up.  He would put dead animals, pets and 

rats and you name it, in mailboxes – he was really distressful.  He would 

harass judges and everyone that had contact with him.  We were trying to 

get him and the only way we could seem to do it was through a federal 

crime.  We contacted the FBI.  I had worked on {cases involving} John 

Patrick Murphy while I was in Homicide, so I knew him well, anyway.  I 

was out on patrol, and they called me to come to the team house.  I got 

there, and here were two FBI agents in black suits, white shirts, black ties 

and very pretty boys, maybe late twenties.  They said, “We are having a 

problem, we’re trying to serve a subpoena and we can’t get the man to 

respond to our knocks.”  I asked, “Who is it?”  And they said, “John 
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Patrick Murphy.”  Then I asked, “What have you been doing?”  And they 

said, “We’ve been knocking on the door, and he won’t answer.”   They 

apparently had no street experience, and I said, “He won’t answer if you 

come like that.”  So, I called one of our outstanding officers, Tim 

McNeeley, and I told him, “We want to serve a subpoena.”  They, of 

course, all knew John Patrick Murphy, he lived in our team area.  So, Tim 

put on his gym clothes, and we put the subpoena in a empty pizza box. 

He went to the Murphy’s front door – it was sort of ironic because that 

was one thing that John Patrick Murphy used to do, send false orders of 

pizza to the houses.  Tim went up to the door, knocked, and he said 

“pizza”.  John Patrick Murphy came right to the door, and Tim opened the 

pizza box, served him with the subpoena and that was it.  It was really 

sort of funny though, because the FBI was baffled as to why they couldn’t 

serve this subpoena. 

KC: [Laughs] I hear a lot of creativity.  Were you ever hit with any resistance 

for your creativity?  Or was it just always the game of everybody is being 

creative? 

CB: No.  I got resistance from the guys, but it was playful resistance.  I mean, 

they would tell me I’m crazy, and that’s why I won so many bets from 

them, because they just figured things were a long shot. 

KC: What were some of the jokes that were played back and forth? 

CB: Oh, my.  One I remember the most was on my birthday they put rolls of 

paper, about six feet in width, and wrapped up the building across the 

street, saying ‘Happy 40th Birthday, Carolen Bailey’.  Well, it was not my 

40th birthday and I was not one bit happy about it.  They put signs in every 
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single bathroom, saying call such and such a number and wish Carolen 

Bailey a happy 40th birthday, inside the bathroom stalls, everywhere, they 

did that. 

KC: How old were you? 

CB: Thirty, and it was a traumatic birthday, believe me.  I thought I was really 

getting old.  They just never let up on that, so I figured out who was the 

ringleader, and on his birthday I had a t-shirt made with a picture of him 

on a Vice search, where he was sticking his tongue out and had long hair 

and mustache.  I had it put on a t-shirt, and I wore it all day long and then 

I gave it to him.  So, we get back and forth on those kinds of things.  It’s 

called “survival” in a tough world! 

KC: What did you bet mostly?  You said you won a lot of bets. 

CB: I won all of the bets on cases, and that’s mostly what we bet on, I can’t 

think of much else. 

KC: Would you bet dinners out or money? 

CB: No money.  We ran out of things to bet on.  I got a case of Nut Goodies 

once.  One of the bets, we couldn’t think of anything, so the guy said, “I’ll 

bet you a coconut.”  I said, “sure.”  So, when I won, he brought in this big 

coconut, and it had a really hilarious face painted on it.  On the back of the 

coconut shell, it read, “from one to another”.   When I was promoted to 

sergeant, they had a big dinner at the Pool and Yacht Club for me. 

KC: Who’s they? 

CB: The guys in Homicide and some others, I guess.  And they presented me 

with a big peach bra, had to be size triple D.  They had sewn sergeant 

stripes on it, a Saint Paul School Police badge, you name it, it was all 
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decorated.  They presented this big thing to me at dinner.  But, I knew it 

was all in fun, now today you wouldn’t dare do that.  But it was hilarious, 

and I still have it. 

KC: Why do you think things changed, where there’s that male/female humor, 

because I think that’s what it is. I have long-term male friends and we 

have a male/female humor and there isn’t anything that’s sexual about it, 

but male/female humor can have an underlying risqué flavor, and that’s 

what I’m hearing you say.  I mean, acknowledging the differences in the 

genders. 

CB: Well, part of it, of course, is teasing on cases.  There has been some that 

have been nasty for some women.  I don’t recall having that experience, 

but I know, I have talked directly to women who have.  That spoils the 

good intentions. 

 

And it’s very important, I think, for both the male and the female that are 

working together to understand the intentions and to not get disturbed if 

somebody really meant well, they were just trying to be friendly.  

Sometimes we all get a little too sensitive and then you make a big deal 

out of something that shouldn’t be.  And, a good example of that is in, one 

of my best friends, Kathy Burke’s book, Detective, because she describes 

some of the things that had happened and how you had to handle it.  You 

have to pick your fights, and some aren’t worth it. 

KC: Who was your mentor to help you learn how to pick fights? Was there 

anybody that you had to talk to?  If something, maybe you’re not having a 

great day, it hits a bad cord and, yet, is this a fight that’s worth picking? 
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CB: I had a lot of them.  Chief Lester McAuliffe was my first.  He would tell 

people when I was working undercover, he would call the backup into his 

office – and someone might take this offensively – and, he would say “If 

one hair on her head is hurt during this raid, you don’t come in the office, 

you mail your badge in.”  He would tell me things about his experience in 

Homicide that I found very helpful.  And then, of course, George 

Barkley24, he was the captain of Homicide.  He was the one that handled 

the T. Eugene Thompson murder, and he was wonderful.  When he was in 

the hospital dying of cancer, he heard that I had some heart trouble and I 

was in the hospital, he immediately called me to be sure I was okay.  He 

was terrific.  Basically, I’ve been really fortunate because I’ve had a lot of 

people that have been helpful to me.   

 

Bill McCutcheon, when he was assistant chief and then deputy chief, he 

sent me to my first conference, on his budget, for the International 

Association of Women Police. He wanted a report on school police and I 

gave him a detailed report from the workshops I went to there.  He was 

very supportive in sending me to those conferences.  I learned a lot 

because those conferences were not just one particular subject, they were a 

wide variety and they prepared me for all the new assignments I had. 

                                                
24 George G. Barkley was appointed patrolman November 21, 1938; military leave March 13, 1942 

to November 1, 1945; promoted to detective November 18, 1947; detective lieutenant May 1, 1956; 

rank changed to captain February 1, 1965; and retired January 14, 1971. 
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KC: How did you mentor the women that came on?  The first woman came on 

in 1975, and 1977 there were a large number of women that came on.  

CB: Well, the first one was Debbie Montgomery.  I was really eager to get 

women on the Department and for them to come on patrol or wherever.  

So when I heard that Debbie was just taking the test for fun, yet she was 

the only woman who passed the agility test, I really started encouraging 

her.  I invited her over to a meeting of the Minnesota Association of 

Women Police at our house.  Fortunately she stayed, because she was a 

real asset.  Then when Judge Miles Lord issued an order that we have 

seven black officers hired out of twenty-five, then McCutcheon set it up, 

talked to me, and he set it up for seven women to be hired.  That’s when 

we got the next group of women.  Now there must be dozens of women 

on the Department.  

KC: I just heard there were 101 sworn female officers, and 11 more in the 

academy. Our Deputy Chief is a woman [ Nancy DiPerna25] and so, I 

mean, they are certainly moving up the ranks and getting acknowledged. 

 

 What were some of the ways that you mentored the women as they came 

on? 

CB: Well, some of it was a little frustrating.  Debbie had horrible experiences 

with her uniform.  It was hilarious, really.  The way she would describe 

her tie falling in the toilet and things like that.  So, when the seven came 

                                                
25 Nancy Elizabeth DiPerna was appointed police officer October 31, 1980; promoted to sergeant 

March 9, 1986; lieutenant May 1, 1990; commander October 4, 1997; senior commander January 1, 

2000; assistant chief June 26, 2004.  
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on, we wanted to be sure that the women had well fit clothes and shirts 

that weren’t just made for the men and pants that weren’t just made for 

the men, but tailored for the women.  Chief Rowan told me that I could 

talk to the women and they could have any change we requested on the 

uniform, as long as they all agreed because it had to be consistent, all of 

the uniform. 

KC: So all the women’s uniforms had to be consistent? 

CB: That’s right.  We could change the hat, everything.  Well, of course, the 

immediate resistance was one woman didn’t want the hat changed.  In 

frustration, I pointed out that the authority was not with the cap.  There’s 

always been a problem getting officers to wear the cap anyway.  Then 

there was an argument that one woman preferred to wear men’s shoes 

anyway.  We had real problems.  Finally, we were able to agree on a fitted 

women’s shirt and pants, which was a huge step, because it was awful 

trying to fit into all that.  But, by and large, we weren’t able to make a lot 

of changes, because they couldn’t agree.   A couple of the women told me 

a couple years later that they were just so glad to have a job and that they 

just didn’t even care at the time.  They made a mistake, they said. 

KC: Were they afraid of being too different? 

CB: Maybe.  I don’t know, maybe that’s it.  There was a problem when women 

first started becoming more active as police officers.  Some women, not 

necessarily in our department and not by any means near the majority, 

but some women thought that they could be a better police officer if they 

acted tough like the men.  Some would adapt their language, and instead 
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of using the skills that they had and their own personalities, they would 

come across much tougher.   

 

I don’t think we see that as much now as they did then, but they really did 

have to prove something and some of them mistakenly thought that was 

the way to do it. 

KC: You and I have talked about the fact that some of the women had some 

very horrendous experiences and that it is critical that we not get into 

those experiences, because we need to protect the women.  But let’s make 

reference to the fact that it wasn’t just all an easy road for the women. 

CB: There were several women that would call me and ask me to meet them 

somewhere, and they were in tears.  Some were ridiculed, and there were  

a couple that left because of some of this.  We didn’t have a maternity 

policy at all, so that created problems for one woman and eventually she 

left.   

 

And, of course, I was the first one that it created problems for, but Civil 

Service was not interested in setting up a policy at the time, so I simply 

resigned and then came back because the Chief had already arranged to 

rehire me. 

KC: How did they work out a maternity policy? What did the next woman do? 

CB: What they did, the next woman that was pregnant, she took over desk 

duty and worked at the front desk.  She didn’t like it much, but they 

didn’t want her out on the street or anything of that sort, and I can 

understand that.  I think some departments are still very strict about that. 
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KC: One of the male officers has referred to the fact that when there started to 

be a number of women on the Department that there was some dating and 

some dating between partners and the ups and downs of that from the 

male perspective.  Did some of the women experience enjoyment in dating 

and others experiences a feeling of forced that they had to? 

CB: There wasn’t a lot of that in the early days.  I think there was more later, 

but I don’t think there was any real problem with single men and single 

women dating, except that they tended to, in the early days, to keep them 

in different assignments, so that they weren’t both working for the same 

team and that sort of thing.  That was perfectly consensual, so there was 

no real problem about that, except to keep them apart when they were 

working.  Although, I don’t know why, frankly.   

  

But there was, in the early, early days, when a few rare women were 

promoted to higher positions, there was this backlash that she slept her 

way to the top.  Which I always thought was incredible, because they 

never blamed the man, it was always the woman who slept her way to the 

top and not the man that was in the position to take advantage of her.  I 

have talked to a couple women that were in positions where they felt 

coerced into sex to even hold their job and it was extremely unpleasant for 

them.  Certainly, nothing that they would have ever chosen to do.  Very, 

very intimidating and very difficult for them to talk about.  So, I don’t 

think a woman sleeping her way to the top was something that a woman 

chose and got a lot of pleasure out of doing and I think they were 

extremely rare. 



 107 

KC: What were some of the hardest challenges that the women faced in 

coming into this cowboy department? 

CB: We had a lot of criticism about one woman, in fact, when I came to the 

Northwest Patrol Team, they told me that they wanted to get rid of her.  

And I couldn’t find one thing that she was doing wrong.  I think women 

were subjected to a closer crutiny and criticized for things that would 

have been overlooked for the men.  I think they had to work harder to 

prove themselves and be very careful about it. 

KC: You left in 1991, so this had been fifteen, sixteen years after the first 

woman came on, after Debbie [Montgomery] the time you left, were you 

seeing some changes? 

CB: Oh, definitely.  But there were still things happening.  There was a big 

emphasis in the department that if there was sexual discrimination or 

harassment and you were a supervisor or a boss, you had to report it, 

otherwise you would be personally liable.  So, this was really emphasized. 

And I did have some instances, which I cannot identify because of this 

confidentiality of the women, that I did report to the [City’s] Services in 

the Personnel Office. 

KC: Were they investigated?  Was anything done? 

CB: I don’t think there was any consequences that resulted from that. 

KC: None of the women ever filed any discrimination cases or sexual? 

CB: No.  It was always so traumatic for the women that they really didn’t 

want to go through a court process or the kind of harassment that officers 

would gang up on them, and that’s definitely true.  And that happens to 

the men, too.   
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KC: Were there ever women where the male officers didn’t back them up?  We 

had gone to single cars with the idea that one car is primary and there’s 

another car that is a backup. 

CB: Yes.   

 

I certainly had not that experience at all.  I didn’t call for assistance more 

than three or four times max, and they were there within a minute or two.  

I was always confident that there would be somebody to back me up.     

There was one woman that was in disfavor, and they would heckle when 

she came on the air.  This didn’t last, and it wasn’t too obvious or blatant 

because, I think, the higher echelon or the administration, would have 

taken action.  It was much more subtle. 

KC: Now, after you were in patrol, you went into Volunteer Services? 

CB: No, I was commander of the Vice Squad for two years after I left patrol.  

That was a challenge.  There was a woman working there, and I was told 

when I came in the unit that she should probably be transferred out.  I 

found that she was a very hard worker, had a 

lot to offer, wanted to be in the unit, and I held 

onto her as long as I could. 

KC: What were some of the challenges of 

working vice?  Early in your career you did the 

undercover work. 

CB: Yeah, I used to joke that the reason they 

put me in charge of vice was because I was the 

first officer that posed as a prostitute.  I never 
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asked any woman to do any assignment for me that I hadn’t already done 

myself.  I ran the Vice Unit as a team.  The Vice Unit has so many areas 

that they can investigate that they have to be selective.   We would have a 

meeting every Tuesday morning of all the people assigned to Vice, and we 

would get the input of everyone.  What should we do next?  Where’s the 

problems?  We were getting a lot of trouble from a dance hall in a certain 

neighborhood that was associated with prostitution and drugs, so we 

decided to tackle that one.  Everybody took a special assignment, and then 

we would get a search warrant and act out.  And as a result, too, we 

raided all of the saunas which were associated with prostitution, 

simultaneously, within the city and we had a judge standing by in our 

office.  We really worked it as a team. 

KC: And the smile on your face says that you 

take a lot of pride in how that worked. 

CB: In the first three months we accomplished 

the previous goals for a year from a 

previous plan. 

KC: So then after Vice, it was Volunteer 

Services & Special Events Unit? 

CB: Yes. 

KC: What were some of your successes in 

Volunteer Services? 

CB: Well, I was told that because of the International Special Olympics coming 

that we had to increase our police reserves from 60 to 300 or something, so 

it was an immense drive for recruiting in the academy and we actually did 
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it.  I felt that part of that was to acknowledge the generosity of those who 

volunteered their time.  We had volunteer reserve officers and 

neighborhood assistance officers, who put in more time than a full time 

job.  So, I changed the annual recognition dinner to be more of a 

celebration.  We had it at the Town and Country Club with balloons 

everywhere, we did the pins for the [years of] service and anything we 

could do to really recognize the tremendous service that they were doing 

and, I’m sure, still doing for our Department. 

KC: Any particular stories that you remember when you worked in Volunteer 

Services? 

CB: Well, it isn’t a case, but in trying to give them some recognition, we took 

over the hallway that led to the skyway [between the old headquarters 

building and the annex on Tenth Street] and made that all recognition for 

the services of different volunteers, with photographs and so forth.  We 

had a lot of activities and special events in the city. 

KC: Any other stories about the International Association of Women Police? 

CB: Well, I’m still on their board.  I haven’t been to the last couple conferences, 

because I was recovering from illness.  But, it’s still necessary, because 

there are many small departments where the women are still isolated and 

need the support and reassurance that they can do the job, the training, 

and the reassurance that other women have encountered the same 

problems. 

KC: What are you most proud of, of your years as being a pioneer 

policewoman? 
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CB: Oh, my.   I suppose being partly responsible for opening up the 

promotional opportunities for the women in general.  For increasing the 

numbers and for, in some small way, demonstrating that women can do 

the work. 

KC: And as a pioneering woman, what are you most proud of in your life? 

CB: Oh, probably my family, our three sons that have done very well and 

never caused me a moment of concern.  Especially, our oldest son, who is 

disabled and is able to drive with hand controls and be the sole support of 

his family.  I’m very proud of our family.  And the support I’ve gotten 

from my husband, as well.   

 

I think that’s really important, because some of my dear friends did not 

have the support.  One of them has gone through two marriages already, 

and it’s difficult.  It’s not just difficult for women, it’s difficult for men too.  

It’s not an easy job to encourage a marriage.  

KC: Thank you Carolen, for you dedication to women in police work.  
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